Cumbria County Council

SUMMONS AND AGENDA
for the Meeting of the
County Council
o n Thursday, 10 January 2019
This agenda is available on request in alternative formats.

Serving the People of Cumbria

CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE COUNTY COUNCIL

To:

ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNTY COUNCIL

You are hereby summoned to attend the meeting of Cumbria County Council to be
held at the Council Chamber, County Offices, Kendal, on Thursday 10 January 2019
at 10.00 am
Yours sincerely

Chief Executive
Cumbria House
Carlisle
CA1 1RD
Wednesday, 2 January 2019

GROUP MEETINGS
GROUP

DATE AND TIME

ROOM

Labour

7 January 2019
at 10am

Conference Room
Cumbria House,
Carlisle

Conservative

7 January 2019
at 10am

Liberal Democrat

7 January 2019
at 10am

2

Council Chamber
County Offices, Kendal
Committee Room 2
County Offices, Kendal

AGENDA

PART 1:

ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE
OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1

ROLL CALL OF MEMBERS

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To disclose any disclosable pecuniary interests relating to any item on the agenda.
Members are asked to refer to the Monitoring Officer for advice in relation to the
declaration of interests at meetings of the full Council. A complete list of declarations
notified to the Monitoring Officer by 5.00 pm on Monday 7 January 2019 will be
circulated at the meeting. If any member wishes to correct or add to the circulated list,
guidance on what constitutes a disclosable pecuniary interest is set out below.
NB The following is a summary of what constitutes a disclosable pecuniary
interest. Please seek advice from Legal and Democratic Services.
Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item
on the agenda which comprises
1

Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for
profit or gain.

2

Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your
election expenses. (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

3

Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have
a beneficial interest) and the authority
(a)

Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be
executed; and

(b)

Which has not been fully discharged.

4

Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.

5

Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of
the authority for a month or longer.

3

6

7

Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge)
(a)

The landlord is the authority; and

(b)

The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest.

Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where
(a)

That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the
area of the authority; and

(b)

Either –
(i)

The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii)

If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total
issued share capital of that class.

In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of
Conduct where these have not already been registered.
Note
A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil
partners).
3

MINUTES

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 15
November 2018 (copy enclosed)
(Pages 7 - 24)
4

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether there are any items on the agenda for which the press and public
should be excluded.
5

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

No petitions, questions or statements from the public under the Public Participation
Scheme for the Council had been received at the time of despatch. This item is time
limited to 30 minutes.

4

6

ANNOUNCEMENTS AND COMMUNICATIONS

To receive any announcements from the Chair, Leader, Members of the Cabinet or the
Chief Executive.
7

MINUTES OF THE EXECUTIVE

Minutes of the meetings of Cabinet held on 22 November 2018 and 20 December 2018
(copies enclosed)
The Leader of the Council will ask members if they have any questions on the minutes
taking each page in turn. Members should state clearly the minute number of the item
concerned
(Pages 25 - 48)
8

SCRUTINY UPDATE REPORT

To consider a report by the Chair of Scrutiny Management Board (copy enclosed)
(Pages 49 - 52)
9

QUESTIONS

To consider questions from Members, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule No
11.2, to the Leader, a Member of the Executive or the Chair of any Committee.
10

UPDATE OF THE CONSTITUTION

To consider a report from the Leader of the Council (copy enclosed)
(Pages 53 - 114)
11

URGENCY PROVISIONS

None for this meeting.
12

NOTICES OF MOTION

None for this meeting.
13

SPEECHES

None for this meeting.

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
COUNTY COUNCIL
Minutes of a Meeting of the County Council held on Thursday, 15 November 2018 at
10.00 am at Council Chamber, County Offices, Kendal
PRESENT:
Councillor Mrs EA Mallinson (Chairman)
Mr J Airey
Mr T Allison
Mr MS Barbour
Mr AL Barry
Mr J Bell
Mrs PA Bell
Mr B Berry
Mr RW Betton
Mr J Bland
Mrs C Bowditch (Vice-Chair)
Mr A Bowness
Mr M Brereton
Mrs A Burns
Mrs HF Carrick
Mr F Cassidy
Mr W Clark
Mr SB Collins
Mr A Connell
Mr GD Cook
Mr N Cotton
Mr P Dew
Ms C Driver
Ms D Earl
Mr GM Ellis

Mr D English
Mrs S Evans
Mr LN Fisher
Mr D Gawne
Mr W Graham
Mrs BC Gray
Mr KR Hamilton
Mrs RC Hanson
Mr M Hawkins
Mr K Hitchen
Mr JS Holliday
Mr N Hughes
Mr A Kennon
Mr AWC Lamb
Lord R Liddle
Mr J Lister
Mr KA Little
Mr T Lywood
Mr J Mallinson
Mr AJ Markley
Ms C McCarron-Holmes
Mr W McEwan
Mr A McGuckin
Mr FI Morgan

Mrs M Rae
Mrs S Sanderson
Mr B Shirley
Mr DE Southward
Mrs V Tarbitt
Mr P Thornton
Mrs C Tibble
Mr CP Turner
Mr T Wentworth Waites
Mrs H Wall
Mr R Watson
Mr WJ Wearing
Mr C Weber
Mr D Whipp
Mr CJ Whiteside
Mr S Wielkopolski
Mrs EL Williamson
Mrs J Willis
Mr D Wilson
Mr M Wilson
Mr AW Wonnacott
Mr R Worthington
Mr SF Young

There were 71 members present at the start of the meeting.
Apologies for absence were received from Mr RK Bingham, Miss HJ Fearon,
Mr HGG Graham, Dr S Haraldsen, Mr C Hogg, Mr NH Marriner, Mr GRPM Roberts,
Mr S Stoddart and Mr MH Worth.

7

35

ROLL CALL OF MEMBERS

The Chairman welcomed Dr Karen Lockney to her first meeting of full Council.
36

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declaration of interest made on this occasion.
37

MINUTES

RESOLVED that,

38

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that,

39

the minutes of the previous meeting held on Wednesday 5
September 2018 be agreed as a true and accurate record and
signed by the Chairman.

the press and public be not excluded from the meeting during
consideration of any items on the agenda today.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Mr Paul Carr, Chairman of Fluoride Free Cumbria attended to make a statement
about the fluoridation of water in West Cumbria. Cumbria County Council was
responsible for the fluoridation of West Cumbria, and whilst Allerdale and Copeland
Borough Councils had resolved to be against this potentially harmful, dangerous
practice, Cumbria County Council had not. Mr Carr felt this was undemocratic and
the process and system seemed to be failing here.
He asked members to note that only 10% of England was fluoridated, and Wales,
Scotland and N. Ireland were not. 97% of Europe and most of the rest of the world
had either never started or had banned the practice of adding fluoridation chemicals
to the water supply.
Mr Carr had concerns about the number of chemicals being added to the water
supply, not to make the water safe to drink , but to treat the tooth decay and disease
of the whole population of West Cumbria "on mass "
The dose was uncontrolled as the amount in the water varied and everyone drinks
different amounts of water daily. Fluoride accumulates in the body, and Mr Carr
believed this to be unethical. He felt that only a doctor should prescribe medication
based on individual needs.
He asked members to follow the example of the devolved Scottish and Welsh
authorities to have oral health initiatives Childsmile and Designed to Smile. Oral
health had never been better and in Scotland and Wales where children's oral
health had experienced the most significant improvement since records began with
levels of dental disease reducing across all social groups.

8

He reminded members of the Cabinet decision in 2016 to wait until CATFISH
reports in 2020/1 before considering the position again but in the meantime the
decay and disease continued.
Mr Leigh Puddifoot was also in attendance to speak to members about fluoridation,
and he asked the following question:‘With regard to the Fluoridation of the drinking water supply for West Cumbria would
members of the Council agree that the process breaches the ethic of informed
consent of the individual as many people will not have been informed about the
dangers associated with the consumption of Fluoride or either of its effects upon the
body, nor will they have consented to its addition to the water supply, and many will
not be aware that their water supply is dosed by the addition of highly toxic
Hexaflurosilicic Acid together with its impurities?’
Ms D Earl responded to the participants as follows:“I would like thank Mr Carr and Mr Puddifoot for their participation today. I’d also like
to take this opportunity to clarify for all members the current position with regard to
water fluoridation in Cumbria. Parts of West Cumbria have had fluoride added to the
water supply in order to help tackle poor dental health since the 1960s. Clearly since
then many things that influenced dental health had changed, including much more
widespread use of fluoride toothpaste but also much greater consumption of sugar.
Because of this it was important to study whether fluoridation today was as effective
in promoting dental health as it was thought to be in the 1960s. The Catfish study
that Mr Carr referred to in his statement was a Cumbrian study that would help to
answer this question. Cumbria also had a longstanding oral health education
programme in place called Smile4Life.
In 2016, Cabinet decided to maintain the status quo with regard to fluoridation at
least until this study reports in 2021 in order to ensure that any future
recommendation on whether to continue with the scheme or request changes to it,
was based on the best available evidence. This decision was taken on the basis of
professional advice that the potential for fluoridation to cause harm to health had
been very widely studied over the last 50 years, and that to date no reliable
research had found evidence of harm beyond the increased chance of cosmetic
changes to the teeth. This was something that was kept under close review by
Public Health England.
In direct response to Mr Puddifoot’s question, I cannot speak for Members of the
Council as a whole – some may agree with him, others may not. The Cabinet
position was based on considerations of safety and effectiveness, and that position
remained that fluoridation was safe, and that the County Council should await the
outcome of the Catfish study before taking a more considered view on
effectiveness.”
Ms Earl encouraged all members of the Council to undertake their own research on
this subject.

9

Mr Carr then asked the Cabinet Member whether it was the Council’s view that it
was democratic and ethical to impose upon the public the fluoridation of water in
Cumbria. The Cabinet Member AGREED to provide a written response to this
question.
The Chairman then thanked Mr Carr and Mr Puddifoot for attending the meeting.
40

ANNOUNCEMENTS AND COMMUNICATIONS

The Chairman announced that details of the engagements undertaken by herself
and the Vice Chair since the last meeting had been circulated to all members.
One minute’s silence was held in the Council Chamber as a mark of respect for Mr
Ian Stewart, Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance, who
had passed away in October. The Chairman, and the Leader of the Liberal
Democrat Group, followed by the leaders of the Labour and Conservative Groups
expressed their condolences to Mr Stewart’s family and spoke about his character,
his contribution to the County Council, and his constituents and of their sadness at
his death.
Following this one minute’s silence was held as a mark of respect for Mr D
Fairbairn, Local Member for Thursby, who also had passed away in October. The
Chairman, and the Leader of the Conservative Group, followed by the leaders of the
Labour Group and the Liberal Democrat Group expressed their condolences to Mr
Fairbairn’s family and spoke about his contribution to the County Council and the
residents in his division and of their sadness at his death.
The Chairman then spoke about the truly magnificent range of events that had taken
place right across the County this weekend to celebrate 100 years since the Great
War finished. These events showed the tremendous support from the residents for
Cumbria’s Fallen - from community events, to the wreath laying ceremonies and to
the many memorial events held. The events showed how proud the county was of
these people and how proud everyone was to remember them.
The Chairman thanked everyone who took the time to support these events,
especially the armed forces champions and of course the Lord Lieutenant, Claire
Hensman.
She also wanted to pay particular mention to this year’s County Memorial event
which was attended by many people. It was held in Rickerby Park, Carlisle and was
a very moving occasion with hymns, poems, prayers and music from the Border
Concert Band as well as songs from the children of Stanwix School, Carlisle.
The Chairman then informed Council that this year one of her chosen charities was
the Royal British Legion. During lunchtime today raffle tickets would be available to
purchase to support this charity. All monies raised would be distributed County wide
to those who needed it and the local Stanwix Branch had kindly offered to be the
vehicle for distributing all the money raised across the whole of Cumbria. The
Chairman would be drawing out the winning raffle tickets at Christmas and there

10

were many fabulous prizes. All the money raised would be used to help support
men and women who were in need.
The Chairman had attended the County Council’s Children in Care Council Awards,
and this ceremony would be detailed in the Corporate Parenting Report being
discussed later in the meeting.
The County also celebrated a day of Cumbrian Pride in late September –
celebrating diversity, recognition and acceptance and she was delighted to be
invited to take part in the day and represent the County Council.
On the 23 January 2019 Cumbria would be welcoming Mr Arek Hersh MBE, a child
survivor of the Holocaust, to County Offices, Kendal. Arek would be sharing his
experience with staff and schools from around the county. His talks were very
moving and the Chairman encouraged all members to attend.
The Chairman reminded members that at lunchtime today there was a Christmas
Craft Fair in the foyer. She encouraged all members to visit the stalls and asked
them to note that all of today’s amazing gifts had been made by people who used
the County Council’s day care services.
Finally, the Chair informed Council that the Treasury Management training, which
had been scheduled to take place on the rise of the meeting today, had been
postponed due to the number of items for debate on the agenda today. It was
hoped this would now take place on the rising of the County Council meeting in
January 2019.
Lunch would be served at 12.30pm.
Leader’s Announcements - the Leader made an announcement about the new
appointment to Cabinet and the reassignment of portfolios. Mr P Thornton was now
the Deputy Leader of the Council/Cabinet Member for Finance and Mrs PA Bell had
taken over as the Cabinet Member for Health and Care Services.
The Chief Executive announced that today was the Chairman’s birthday, and
members gave her their best wishes.
41

MINUTES OF THE CABINET

The Leader presented the minutes of the Executive meetings held on 27 September
2018 and 18 October 2018.
Mr Airey asked the Leader to outline the steps being taken to ensure the whole of
the county would benefit from the Borderlands Project.
The Leader responded by informing members that the Borderlands Project involved
a number of local authorities working together to deliver positive change across the
region to encourage growth, help existing businesses and to encourage new
businesses to set up in the area. It was hoped the project would unlock the

11

potential for sustainable and inclusive growth, and although it was accepted that not
everyone would see a project in their town, the proposed projects and programmes
would benefit the whole area, including Cumbria. The proposed projects included:







Energy
Digital Borderlands
Transport Connectivity
Rural productivity
Business
Destination Borderlands and
Quality of Place

Members asked the Leader to ensure that the whole of the county benefitted from
this project and not just those in the north of Cumbria.
Mr K Hitchen asked the Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning for more detail
about the consultation about School Admission Arrangements and asked for
confirmation that there was a specific question on catchment areas in this. The
Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning AGREED to provide a written response.
Mr G Ellis asked the Cabinet Member for Customers, Transformation and Fire and
Rescue to explain how this council ended up paying a substantial fee to a subcontractor, with the threat of the council being locked out of its own data centre. He
also asked for confirmation that measures would be put in place to prevent this
happening again. The Cabinet Member AGREED to provide a written response.
Mr P Dew asked for assurance that integrated care in Cumbria would focus on the
best possible care for patients. The Leader responded that he was aware of the
real concerns from members of the public about the changes to health services
locally. He also commented on the national Integrated Care Provider Project. The
County Council had responded to the consultation and he reminded members the
these proposals and the consultation were being led by NHS England, not the
County Council.
42

SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD

A report was presented by the Chair of Scrutiny Management Board which updated
members on the work of Scrutiny and issues and developments that had occurred
since the last meeting of the County Council.
The Chair encouraged all members to attend the strategic planning session being
held once the budget consultation was launched. The session would be open to all
non-executive members and would be held on 3 December 2018.
He asked members to note that in relation to the Scrutiny Self-Assessment the
deadline had been extended to the middle of January.
RESOLVED that,

the report be received and noted.

12

43

TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR STRATEGY REVIEW 2018/19

Members considered a report from the Leader of the Council, presented by the
Deputy Leader which detailed treasury management activities during the first half of
the 2018/19 financial year.
Treasury Management was concerned with the Council’s approach to the
management of investments, which included short term investments during the year
and longer term borrowing to help fund the capital programme.
This report noted that all treasury management activities undertaken in the first half
of the year had complied with the annual strategy that was agreed by Council in
February 2018.
The Deputy Leader then took members through the report, and upon conclusion
moved the recommendations. This was seconded by Mr Young.
RESOLVED that,

44

Council

(1)

note that following a half yearly review, no amendments are required to
the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and the Annual
Investment Strategy;

(2)

note that following a half yearly review, Prudential Indicators and
Treasury Management Indicators have been fully complied with and that
no amendments are required to these indicators;

(3)

note the Treasury Management function is forecasting a £2.0m
underspend for 2018/19, due to the Council’s tactical strategy to utilise
internal reserves whilst available, albeit that this will be kept under review
given various uncertainties, including interest rate movements and cash
flow requirements.

CONSTITUTION REVIEW GROUP - UPDATE OF THE CONSTITUTION

Members considered a report from the Chair of the Constitution Review Group
which recommended the Council to adopt changes to the Constitution, to maintain it
as an up to date, living document. The changes were:




new Terms of Reference for Local Committees (Part 2D)
new Terms of Reference for the Health and Wellbeing Board (Part 2F),
a new Scheme of Delegation to Officers (Part 3A) and
a new Whistleblowing Policy (Part 6E).

The Constitution Review Group met on the 30 October to consider reports
recommending updates to four Parts of the Constitution.

13

Local Committees (Part 2D)
Over the summer and early autumn of 2017 work was undertaken by the Leader
and Chief Executive, with members and Local Committee Chairs, to explore how
collectively the Council could achieve greater local focus and democratic
accountability through Local Committees. This included a refreshed approach to
area planning that would shape services more effectively and create efficiencies and
benefits for local residents.
As part of the review process, the current Terms of Reference of Local Committees
(Part 2D) were reviewed to ensure they remained relevant to the current and future
activity of Local Committees. The Constitution Review Group would keep the new
Terms of Reference (if adopted) under review with a further report to the Group in
approximately twelve months time.
RESOLVED that,
(1)

Members approve the following documents as updates to Parts of the
Constitution, replacing current Parts:
Appendix 1 – Terms of Reference of Local Committees (Part 2D)
Appendix 2 - Terms of Reference of the Health and Wellbeing Board
(Part 2F)
Appendix 3 – Scheme of Delegation to Officers (Part 3A)
Appendix 4 – Whistleblowing Policy (Part 6E)

(2)

45

Members note the officer designations set out in Appendix 5, which are
consequential to the reshaping of the Extended Leadership Team and
authorise the Monitoring Officer to update the Constitution where
necessary to reflect these designations.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION

A report was considered from the Leader of the Council which provided information
on the local and national context in relation to local government reorganisation. It
also provided, in Appendix 1, a summary of the work on the status quo and options
considered by Cumbria Leadership Board over the last 6 months.
At its next meeting Cabinet was due to consider a proposal to approach the
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government to seek the
Government’s views on the potential for local government reorganisation in
Cumbria, and to propose working with them to develop proposals for consideration.
The information in this report was intended to inform Members’ debate on this issue.
Members’ views and comments would inform Cabinet’s considerations in
December.
Following the enactment of the Local Government Act 1972, a two-tier structure of
county and district councils was established throughout England. From 1986

14

onwards, a number of reorganisations had removed this two-tier structure and
replaced it with unitary authorities in large parts of the country.
There were currently 124 single-tier local authorities in England (unitary authorities,
metropolitan boroughs/districts, and London Boroughs) plus 27 county councils and
201 district councils. Sixty-five percent of the population of the UK lived in single-tier
council areas including all of London, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, all
major metropolitan areas, and a number of shire county areas.
In 2008/09, a round of reorganisation included the creation of county unitary
authorities in Northumberland, Durham, Cornwall, Wiltshire and Shropshire.
Cheshire and Bedfordshire were also reorganised with the creation of 2 unitary
authorities within each county.
Following the formation of the coalition Government in 2010, the then Secretary of
State for Communities and Local Government signalled a reluctance to consider
further reorganisation. This position shifted in 2016. Since then a number of
reorganisation proposals had been submitted and were being progressed.
The views and comments expressed were broadly supportive of change and
highlighted a number of issues for Cabinet Members’ consideration. The opportunity
to debate this proposal prior to consideration by Cabinet was welcomed, and the
work carried out to date with partners through the Cumbria Leadership Board was
recognised.
Members expressed views that the current local government structure in Cumbria
was inefficient and complex, and required change. The fragmentation of services
across the existing tiers of local government was highlighted as unhelpful. Members
stressed the importance of simplifying the system for residents and customers.
Members felt there was a need for reorganisation to increase efficiency and reduce
costs, to release savings to enable investment in services to support communities,
particularly the most vulnerable people, and to deliver improvements in the county’s
infrastructure was emphasised by members.
The benefits of reorganisation in providing a united voice for Cumbria in
engagement with the government and potential investors in the county, and the links
between identity and local government, were raised.
The importance of any future proposals focusing on democracy, services and the
community as well as the future financial sustainability of local government in the
county was given emphasis by members.
Issues in relation to relationships between existing tiers of local government were
also highlighted. These included the significance of existing three-tier working and
the potential for further devolution of functions and services to local areas and town
and parish councils, the role County and District Councils currently play in respect of
accountability to residents, (e.g. do they provide checks and balances for each
other), and relationships with the National Park Authorities.

15

Members also focused on some of the challenges that a reorganisation process
could bring. These focused on the resources and capacity (including Officer and
Member time) that would be needed to explore options, and to develop and deliver
any subsequent proposals, and the challenges of achieving (and demonstrating
achievement of) planned or forecasted savings.
The future role of elected members was discussed, with a focus on the support
members would need to respond to the wider remit of any unitary authority and the
additional service areas that members would be responsible for than under the
current County and District system.
Council members recognised that the proposal to approach the Secretary of State
for Housing, Communities and Local Government did not reference any specific
unitary models, and that significant engagement and communication would need to
be carried out in advance of any future decisions on proposals.
Mr J Mallinson asked that his disagreement with the proposal to be formally noted.
RESOLVED that,
(1)

Members note this report;

(2)

Cabinet Members were asked, following consideration of the information
in this paper and set out in Appendix 1, to agree to submit to Government
an expression of interest in exploring options for local government
reorganisation to a unitary model in Cumbria.

The meeting broke for lunch at 12.30 and reconvened at 13.15.
46

QUESTIONS

Mr CJ Whiteside asked the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport about the
consultation which had been launched on the proposed Whitehaven Relief Road
and how members could feed into the council’s response, both about the proposal
itself and how it fitted into the wider context of the need to support other key points
like Duddon Bridge. He also asked to be assured that the council’s response would
be positive, constructive and above all, supportive.
The Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport said that this scheme was part of
the strategic road network managed by Highways England, and the County Council
was only a statutory consultee for projects such as this one. He confirmed that
Cumbria County Council would respond positively to the consultation and he would
be happy to receive comments directly from members about this.
Mr M Barbour then asked the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport a
question about the recent announcement by Toshiba on their decision to withdraw
from the Moorside Project, and the effect this may have on the cancellation of the
Whitehaven Relief Road. He asked the Cabinet Member whether he was aware
that a statement had been made to the effect that the proposed Whitehaven Relief
Road was not dependent on the Moorside Project.

16

The Cabinet Member responded to say that although he hoped the Whitehaven
Relief Road was not dependent on the Moorside Project, he was aware that the
County Council had already been asked for additional information from Government
about proposed projects where the development of Moorside had been predicated,
and this included the Whitehaven Relief Road.
Mr AJ Markley asked the Cabinet Member – Highways and Transport when the
traffic lights in Wetheral would be removed, as this was a constant source of
irritation for the residents and users of this road. The Cabinet Member provided an
update and informed members that the contract had now been let for this scheme,
and work would commence shortly on this.
Mr AJ Markley then asked whether the money set aside for Storm Desmond could
be used to repair roads along the coastal routes, as the state of disrepair in these
roads had been exacerbated by storm conditions.
The Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport responded to say that the County
Council and its partners were currently developing a Coastal Strategy. A number of
events were taking place across the affected areas and he encouraged all members
with an interest to attend.
Mr J Airey asked the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation a question
about Gooseholme Bridge. The residents in this location were expecting a
replacement bridge but a recent announcement had indicated this was not actually
the case. He asked the Cabinet Member to explain this.
The Cabinet Member had met recently with South Lakeland Local Committee
members, the Environment Agency and County Council staff to discuss this issue as
there had been a funding shortfall for this scheme based on the request from the
Environment Agency to raise the bridge to prevent any future flooding occurring in
this location. He was pleased to report that funding had now been established for
this and the scheme would be starting in the near future.
Mr A Lamb asked the Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning whether she
wished to congratulate Lamplugh School for winning an award for being the best
early years provider.
The Cabinet Member was delighted with this news and congratulated the school on
its award. She was pleased the school had been recognised for their efforts.
Mr D Wilson asked the Cabinet Member Economic Development and Property to
confirm that no Community Asset Transfer request had ever been received for
Millom Swimming Pool.
The Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Property AGREED to provide
a written response.

17

Mr P Dew asked a question about the Working Together Project, which now looked
as if it would be limited in scope and he asked if Cabinet had any idea when the
project was likely to be completed.
The Cabinet Member responded to say that the County Council, was working hard
to get the project established, and the latest reiteration of the project was currently
being considered by the Cumbria Association of Local Councils (CALC). He asked
members to let him know if they were aware of any concerns with this.
Mr Dew then asked when the Winter Maintenance Review was likely to be
completed.
The Cabinet Member – Highways and Transport explained the annual process for
the agreement of the Winter Maintenance Review and asked members to contact
him if they had any roads they wished to be included for consideration.
Mr M Brereton reminded council that the Windermere Ferry was now back in
service, after 5 months out of action. He asked the Cabinet Member to commit to
working with him to reconstitute the Windermere Ferry Group. The Cabinet Member
was happy to confirm his commitment to this. He suggested it would be
advantageous for the group to meet twice per year, once at the start of the season
and once at the end.
Mr RC Hanson asked the Cabinet Member – Schools and Learning for her
comments on the announcement from Government that from the 2019/20 academic
year onwards, schools in England would be required to administer an online
multiplication tables check (MTC) to year 4 pupils.
The Cabinet Member responded to say that she felt the initiative, the purpose of
which was to determine whether pupils could recall their times tables fluently, was
an example of a programme which had been introduced without proper
consideration by the professionals. She was concerned about the effect of this on
children who were not engaging with education.
Mr LN Fisher asked whether Cumbria County Council would be willing to offer free
parking in Carlisle in all CCC car parks on the 4 Saturdays leading up to Christmas,
and from 3pm on Thursdays for late night shopping.
Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport agreed to look at this suggestion, but
felt it was likely the County Council would mirror the scheme adopted by Carlisle
City Council.
Mr N Hughes asked the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Property
whether he agreed that, notwithstanding whether fruitful outcomes for the this
county could be negotiated through the Borderlands partnership, the re-opening of
the Carlisle-Galashiels border railway was an excellent suggestion and that,
resources permitting, other former routes within the county may benefit from a
similar approach, favouring both tourism and business.

18

The Cabinet Member replied to say that any additional key strategic projects would
depend on the outcome of the Borderlands Project itself. The announcement on
this was not expected from Government until January 2019.
47

MINUTES OF COMMITTEES

a

Audit and Assurance Committee

The Chair of the Audit and Assurance Committee presented the minutes of the
meeting held on 17 September 2018, and detailed one area of work to Council
which related to Risk Management.
Risk Management was an integral part of the Council’s corporate governance
framework, and over the last few years a lot of effort had been focussed on
developing a widespread understanding of risk throughout the organisation, on
embedding risk management within the Council’s core business processes, refining
the assessment of risks and establishing meaningful targets.
The Risk Management function was now under the leadership of the Director of
Finance who was providing a renewed emphasis and ownership for an integrated
approach to Risk Management across the Council.
A new Performance and Risk Management Framework was agreed at Cabinet in
June 2018 and a refreshed Corporate Risk Register for 2018/19 had been produced
to reflect the new Council Plan Delivery Plan. There were now 12 corporate risks
set out in the risk register of which 8 were high risks, and these were listed in the
minutes.
The new template for the Risk Report clearly linked the risks to the Council Plan
Delivery Plan and had simplified the description of the risks. The new template
greatly improved the visibility of the controls and measures in place for the quarter
being reported, the visibility of the controls and measures being developed and
would indicate a direction of travel.
These initiatives, building on improvements made over the last few years, provided
the Audit and Assurance Committee with more effective information on which to
gain assurance that the Council’s risk management processes were both robust and
effective.
RESOLVED that,
b

the minutes of the Audit and Assurance meeting held on 17
September be received and noted.

Cumbria Pensions Committee

Mr SB Collins presented the minutes of the Cumbria Pensions Committee held on
11 September 2018.
He advised that the financial statements for the Pension Fund which were published
in July as part of the Council’s account had been supplemented by additional

19

narrative in the form of the Fund’s Annual Report and Accounts. This had now been
published on the Council’s website.
He took members through the minutes and then moved that Council accepted
these.
RESOLVED that,
c

the minutes of the Cumbria Pensions Committee meeting held
on 11 September 2018 be received and noted.

Workington Harbour Board

The Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation presented the minutes of
Workington Harbour Board held on 24 October 2018.
One of the members asked the Cabinet Member whether the Board needed more
information on the possible affect that Brexit may have on the Port. The Cabinet
Member responded that he would keep a ‘watching brief’ on this.
RESOLVED that,
d

the minutes of the Workington Harbour Board meeting held on
24 October 2018 be received and noted.

Corporate Parenting Board

The Executive Director – People gave members a presentation on the recently held
Children in Care Awards. The event was a great success and the Executive
Director took members through the slides from the celebratory event. Planning had
already started for the event in 2019 and he asked all members to contact him
directly if they were aware of any suitable venues, especially in the south of the
county.
The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services then took members through a report
from the Executive Director – People, which provided Council with an annual update
on the work of the Corporate Parenting Board.
Over the past year there had been progress along a number of fronts, including:• Care leavers now benefited from Council Tax relief across the whole of
Cumbria. This was a major step forward and required co-operation
between all six District Councils.
• Cumbria Children’s Services received a positive Ofsted report, and
was rated Good for Leadership and Management and Adoption.
• Children looked after were continuing to do well educationally, and
numbers progressing to university holds up well nationally compared to
other authorities.
At the most recent meeting of the Corporate Parenting Board there was a
presentation on the development of a Regional Adoption Agency. At the meeting the
Board were informed that currently there were no members of the Council on the
Adoption Panels that operated in the North and South of the county. The Board

20

recommended this be brought to the Council’s attention and the Cabinet Members
announced that two members had now come forward to join the panels:Dr K Lockney – North
Mr M Wilson – South
Members were delighted to note this.
RESOLVED that,
48
1.

the report be received and noted.

NOTICE OF MOTIONS
Anti-semitism

Mr CJ Whiteside moved the following motion as set out in the Council Agenda, with
one amendment in the opening paragraph, to change the word ‘Association’ to
‘Alliance working’. The motion was set out in the agenda: as follows:‘Cumbria County Council resolves to follow the example of the UK Government, the
Crown Prosecution Service, over 130 local authorities and over 30 other countries,
by adopting in full, and without qualification or reservation, the International
Holocaust Remembrance Alliance working definition of antisemitism, as follows,
including the eleven examples.
“Anti-semitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as hatred
toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of antisemitism are directed
toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, toward Jewish
community institutions and religious facilities.
Contemporary examples of antisemitism in public life, the media, schools, the
workplace, and in the religious sphere could, taking into account the overall context,
include, but are not limited to:
• Calling for, aiding, or justifying the killing or harming of Jews in the
name of a radical ideology or an extremist view of religion
• Making mendacious, dehumanising, demonising, or stereotypical
allegations about Jews as such or the power of Jews as collective —
such as, especially but not exclusively, the myth about a world Jewish
conspiracy or of Jews controlling the media, economy, government or
other societal institutions
• Accusing Jews as a people of being responsible for real or imagined
wrongdoing committed by a single Jewish person or group, or even for
acts committed by non-Jews
• Denying the fact, scope, mechanisms (e.g. gas chambers) or
intentionality of the genocide of the Jewish people at the hands of
National Socialist Germany and its supporters and accomplices during
World War II (the Holocaust)
• Accusing the Jews as a people, or Israel as a state, of inventing or
exaggerating the Holocaust

21

• Accusing Jewish citizens of being more loyal to Israel, or to the alleged
priorities of Jews worldwide, than to the interests of their own nations
• Denying the Jewish people their right to self-determination, e.g., by
claiming that the existence of a State of Israel is a racist endeavor
• Applying double standards by requiring of it a behaviour not expected
or demanded of any other democratic nation
• Using the symbols and images associated with classic antisemitism
(e.g., claims of Jews killing Jesus or blood libel) to characterise Israel
or Israelis
• Drawing comparisons of contemporary Israeli policy to that of the
Nazis
• Holding Jews collectively responsible for actions of the state of Israel’
The motion was moved by Mr CJ Whiteside and seconded by Mr S Wielkopolski.
Members supported this motion and commented that anti-semitism was not always
obvious.
From the floor it was suggested that caviats be added to the motion to the effect that
it was not anti-semitic to criticise the Government of Israel, without additional
evidence to suggest anti-semitic intent, and it was not anti-semitic to hold the Israeli
Government to the same standards as other liberal democracies, or to take a
particular interest in the Israeli Government’s policies or actions.
The mover of the motion did not disagree with any of these statements, but he did
not feel there was a need to amend the wording of the motion specifically to detail
this.
Following a debate it was RESOLVED that Cumbria County Council follows the
example of the UK Government, the Crown Prosecution Service, over 130 local
authorities and over 30 other countries adopting, in full and without qualification or
reservation, the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance working definition of
antisemitism, as specified above.
2.

Moorside

The Chairman then notified members that she had agreed to an additional motion
under para 12.2 of part 5A of the constitution. Ordinarily notices of motion must be
submitted at least eight days before the date of the meeting. However, this motion
related to an announcement made after that time had passed. The Chairman
accepted that to delay this debate until the next council meeting could seriously
prejudice the interests of the council and the people of Cumbria
Mr DE Southward then moved the emergency motion, as follows:‘This Council views with concern the recent statement by Toshiba Corporation that
their Board has resolved to withdraw from the nuclear power plant construction at
Moorside in West Cumbria, and to take steps to wind up the development company
NuGen.

22

Council considers that due to the level of commercial risk involved in projects of this
nature, they are highly unlikely to proceed without Government support, whether
that be by way of equity acquisition, underwriting potential losses or guaranteeing
the strike price.
Council therefore calls on the Government to enter into urgent discussions with all
interested parties and to take any necessary steps to ensure that the nuclear power
plant construction project at Moorside goes ahead.’
The motion was moved by Mr DE Southward and seconded by Mr SF Young.
A number of members made statements about the motion and commented that
there was a real need for an Energy Policy going forward. Following the debate it
was RESOLVED by assent of the committee that Cumbria County Council calls on
the Government to enter into urgent discussions with all interested parties and to
take any necessary steps to ensure that the nuclear power plant construction project
at Moorside goes ahead.
49

SPEECHES

There were no speeches made on this occasion.

The meeting ended at 3.40 pm

23

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL
Minutes of a Meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 22
November 2018 at 10.00 am at County Offices, Kendal

PRESENT:
Mr SF Young (Leader)
Mrs A Burns
Mrs PA Bell
Ms D Earl
Mr KA Little
Mr DE Southward
Mrs C Tibble
Mrs J Willis
Mrs S Sanderson
Officers in attendance:
Chief Executive, Cumbria County Council, Executive Director - People
(Deputy Chief Executive), Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer),
Director of Public Health, Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring Officer),
Assistant Chief Fire Officer and Assistant Director - Economy and
Environment
PART 1 ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE
OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

55

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Mr Peter Thornton, Deputy Leader and
Cabinet Member for Finance.

56

DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures of interest on this occasion.

57

MINUTES

RESOLVED, that the minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2018
be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

25

58

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED, that the press and public be admitted to the meeting for all
items of business.

59

STATEMENTS BY THE
CABINET MEMBERS

LEADER

OF

THE

COUNCIL

AND

The Leader welcomed Cllr P Bell to the meeting, Cllr Bell had recently
been appointed as the Cabinet Member for Health and Care.
The Leader informed that Mrs A Jones had recently been appointed as
Acting Executive Director – Economy and Infrastructure. Cabinet
Members expressed their congratulations and offered best wishes.

60

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There were no questions, petitions or statements made at this meeting.

61

DEVELOPMENT OF THE MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN
(MTFP) 2019-2023 - COUNCIL PLAN AND BUDGET

The Leader presented a report regarding the Development of the Medium
Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for 2019 to 2022.
Members were informed that the Council was continuing to deal with
significant financial challenges. It was explained that by the end of
2018/19 the Council would have agreed budget savings of £249m since
2011/12. It was noted that for the period of the next Medium Term
Financial Plan (MTFP 2019/20-2021/22 the Council would need to deliver
a further £49m of savings which meant that between 2011/12-2021/22
the Council would have made a total of £298m of permanent savings
from its day to day (revenue) budget.
Cabinet were informed of the financial planning assumptions for the
period of the new three year MTFP (2019–2022) set within the Council
Plan (2018-2022). The report updated the 2018-2022 Budget Planning
position, agreed by Council in February which proposed the approach that
would be taken to deliver the savings required to achieve a balanced
budget over the three year period (2019-2022).

2

26

The Leader shared a copy of the consultation document and informed
that consultation would be launched on the close of the meeting and
would ask for feedback from the public on the proposed 1.99% increase
in Council Tax for general purposes in 2019/2020. An increase of 2.00%
to support Adult Social Care Services was also assumed in the Budget
Proposal. This would be consistent with current 2018/19 Council Tax
Levels.
A discussion took place regarding the pressures facing the Council,
specific reference was made to Children’s Social Care and the impact of
austerity on communities leading to demand pressures upon Council
services. The Leader explained a number of assumptions that had been
made in preparing the budget proposal and in relation to 2020 onwards,
the uncertainty facing Councils as we await the results of the Spending
Review 2019 and recent consultations from government concerning Fair
Funding and the Local Retention of Business Rates. The MTFP assumes
that we will continue to receive no less funding from Business Rates, Top
Up Grant and the Better Care Fund post 2020.
It was explained that the majority of savings for the next year would be
made from promoting independence, which is a continuation of this
year’s programme.
The Leader thanked Cabinet Members and Officers for their hard work in
preparing the MTFP and gave special thanks to the late Cllr I Stewart for
his dedication and commitment in preparing the budget.
RESOLVED, that
(1)

the revised Budget Gap position of £22.730m for
2019/20 and the proposals identified within the
report to provide a balanced budget for 2019/20 be
noted;

(2)

on the basis of the balanced budget proposals (set
out within the published report), consultation with the
public on the level of Council Tax for 2019/20 of
1.99% increase in general Council Tax and 2.00%
increase for the Adult Social Care precept be
approved;

(3)

the revised Budget Gap for 2020/21 and 2021/22
which results in additional savings of £39.898m still
required to be identified at a future date to deliver a
balanced budget over the Medium Term be noted.

27

3

62

STATEMENT OF ASSURANCE

The Cabinet Member for Customers, Transformation and Fire and Rescue
presented a report regarding the Fire and Rescue National Framework for
England which set out the requirement for all Fire and Rescue Authorities
to provide assurance annually on financial, governance and operational
matters. The report sets out the approach adopted by Cumbria Fire and
Rescue Service and sought sign-off of the Statement of Assurance
2017/18.
RESOLVED,

63

that the Statement of Assurance 2017/18 be approved.

THE ENGLISH NATIONAL CONCESSIONARY TRAVEL SCHEME
- THE CUMBRIA SCHEME 2019/20

The Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure presented a report
which set out proposals for the Cumbria Scheme for 2019/2020 including
the reimbursement rate to be paid to transport operators.
RESOLVED, that
(1)

publication, in accordance with paragraph 12, of the
2019/20 Cumbria Concessionary travel Scheme (as
set out in Appendix 1 to the report) which maintains
the ENCTS basic reimbursement rate at 58% be
approved;

(2)

following publication of the 2019/20 scheme any nonsubstantial amendments can be approved by the
Executive Director for Economy and Infrastructure in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways
and Transport.

The meeting ended at 10.35 am

4

28

CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL
Minutes of a Meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 20
December 2018 at 10.00 am at Conference Room A,
Cumbria House, Carlisle

PRESENT:
Mr SF Young (Leader)
Mrs A Burns
Mrs PA Bell
Ms D Earl
Mr KA Little
Mr DE Southward
Mrs C Tibble
Mrs J Willis
Mrs S Sanderson
Mr N Cotton
Mr W Wearing

in attendance for Item 7a
in attendance for Item 8

Officers in attendance:
Chief Executive, Cumbria County Council, Executive Director - People
(Deputy Chief Executive), Executive Director - Corporate, Customer and
Community Services, Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer), Chief Fire
Officer, Director of Public Health, Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring Officer),
Professional Lead - Democratic Services, Leadership Support Officer Labour Group, Communications Manager, Senior Manager - Policy and
Scrutiny, Assistant Director - Highways and Transport and Area Manager
- South Lakeland
PART 1 ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE
OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS
64

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

An apology for absence was received from Mr P Thornton.

65

DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures of interest made on this occasion.

29

66

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that,

67

MINUTES

RESOLVED that

68

the press and public be not excluded during
discussion of any items on the agenda today.

the minutes of the meeting held on 22 November
2018 be agreed and signed by the Chair.

STATEMENTS BY THE
CABINET MEMBERS

LEADER

OF

THE

COUNCIL

AND

The Leader made a statement about the strike action taking place today
outside of the Evening News and Star offices in Carlisle. He had visited
the pickets outside the building to offer his support.
The Leader then reported that today the Environment Agency and the
National Centre for Atmospheric Science had now deployed a weather
radar system which would help better protect Cumbria in the future.
Following the floods in 2015 it came to light that the agencies didn’t
receive the detailed advance weather warnings that they needed to help
protect the communities and businesses in effected areas.
Investment in improved high resolution weather radar systems had been
implemented and the data collected by the radar would help researchers
better understand the type of extreme rainfall that sometimes affected
Cumbria.
69

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There were no petitions, questions or statements made on this occasion.

70

REFERRAL FROM LOCAL COMMITTEES

(A)

REFERRAL FROM SOUTH LAKELAND LOCAL COMMITTEE WINDERMERE FERRY

The Chair of South Lakeland Local Committee presented a referral from
South Lakeland Local Committee to Cabinet to request a review of the
repair programme of Windermere Ferry following the fire incident in May
of this year. Cabinet to consider the re-introduction of the Windermere
Ferry Advisory Committee.

2

30

At the South Lakeland Local Committee meeting of 19 November, the
review report was presented by officers which outlined the process to
repair and re-instate the operation of the ferry, to share the lessons that
had been learnt from this incident and the measures which had
subsequently been put in place.
RESOLVED that,
(B)

Cabinet is asked to consider the re-introduction of
the Windermere Ferry Advisory Committee

RESPONSE TO REFERRAL FROM SOUTH LAKELAND LOCAL
COMMITTEE - WINDERMERE FERRY

Cabinet considered a report from the Acting Executive Director –
Economy and Infrastructure, which provided a response to the referral
from South Lakeland Local Committee re. Windermere Ferry.
Following the incident, the evacuation of the ferry required a multiagency response involving: the crew of the Windermere Ferry, Cumbria
Fire and Rescue Service, Cumbria Constabulary, North West Ambulance
Service, Windermere Lake Warden and Windermere Lake Cruises Ltd.
The County Councils Health and Safety Adverse Event Investigation and
the Police led Structured Debrief Report (Multi-agency debrief) both
indicate that the evacuation of the Windermere Ferry was well managed
with very positive feedback
The referral from South Lakeland Local Committee also contained a
request that Cabinet considered the re-introduction of the Windermere
Ferry Advisory Committee.
The Cabinet Member for Transport had, in response to a question in
Council on 15 November, confirmed his commitment to the reestablishment of a Windermere Ferry Group, suggesting that it should
meet twice a year, at the beginning and end of the season.
Cabinet was therefore recommended to support the establishment of an
advisory group by the Local Committee. The Local Committee would
determine the terms of reference of the advisory Group, which would
operate as a working group of the Local Committee and could include
supporting engagement with local members and parishes. The Local
Committee would be responsible for any costs associated with the
advisory group.
RESOLVED that,
(1) Cabinet note the information in relation to the repair programme
of the Windermere Ferry and the associated lessons learned;

31

3

(2) Cabinet supports the introduction of a Windermere Ferry
Advisory Group by the South Lakeland Local Committee.
71

SCRUTINY FEEDBACK ON STRATEGIC PLANNING

The Chair of Scrutiny Management Board presented a report which
provided a summary of Scrutiny’s engagement in Strategic Planning for
2019/20, and outlined key points and recommendations agreed by
Scrutiny Management Board (SMB).
Two focused sessions to consider the strategic policy and financial
context for the Council had taken place, on 25 July 2018 and 3 December
2018.
In December members received an update on the financial context for
the Council and the proposals for delivering a balanced budget for
2019/20.
The Chair took Cabinet through the key themes and points that members
raised in relation to:
 Scrutiny Feedback – Overview
 Approach to finding the budget savings of £23 million in
2019/20
 How future savings can be made
 How Scrutiny can be engaged
Scrutiny Management Board welcomed the opportunity to provide
feedback to Cabinet on the budget consultation.
Scrutiny Management Board had agreed a number of specific
recommendations for Cabinet drawn from the discussions which took
place on the 3 December, Cabinet was asked: That work to progress options for local government
reorganisation for Cumbria is undertaken in a collaborative
way, involving and providing feedback to all Members
throughout the process.
 To provide assurance that opportunities will continue to be
offered for pre-scrutiny and non-executive input with
proposals as they emerge through the year, prior to decisions
being taken.
 To continue to work together with partners to unlock funding
opportunities that could benefit Cumbria.
RESOLVED that,

Cabinet Members agree Scrutiny’s response and
recommendations.

4

32

72

RESPONSE
PLANNING

TO

SCRUTINY

FEEDBACK

ON

STRATEGIC

Cabinet considered a report from the Executive Director – Corporate,
Customer and Community Services, which provided a Cabinet response
to Scrutiny feedback on the 2019/20 Budget Consultation and Strategic
Planning.
In addition to feedback provided, Scrutiny Management Board also made
3 recommendations to Cabinet in respect of work towards unitary
governance in Cumbria, early engagement of Members in development of
strategic planning proposals, and working with partners to secure funding
for Cumbria. It was proposed that Cabinet accepts the 3
recommendations.
RESOLVED that,

73

Cabinet agrees the proposed responses contained in
this report to Scrutiny feedback on Strategic
Planning.

APPOINTMENTS
TO
WORKING
REPRESENTATION ON OUTSIDE BODIES

GROUPS

AND

Cabinet had before them a report from the Executive Director –
Corporate, Customer and Community Services which asked members to
consider appointments to Working Groups and outside bodies following
the recent changes to membership and re-assignment of Cabinet
portfolios.
It was important to make these changes to ensure that the Council
engaged effectively in outside bodies and that membership of Cabinet
Working Groups was appropriate.
The Leader asked the Chief Legal Officer why Cabinet had not been asked
to appoint to the LGA Assembly. The Chief Legal Officer agreed to
investigate.
The Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport asked why the
Transport for the North Scrutiny Board had not been included. The Chief
Legal Officer confirmed this had previously been a County Council
appointment, not Cabinet.
RESOLVED that, the proposed membership of Cabinet Working Groups
and representation on Outside Bodies be agreed as follows:(1) Cumbria Local Safeguarding Adults Board – Mrs PA Bell to
replace Mr P Thornton;

33

5

(2) Commissioning and Procurement Working Group – Mr P
Thornton be appointed as Chair;
(3) County Council Joint Consultative Group – Mr P Thornton be
appointed to fill the vacancy;
(4) Cumbria Housing Group - Mrs PA Bell to replace Mr P Thornton;
(5) Cumbria Learning Disability Partnership - – Mrs PA Bell to
replace Mr P Thornton;
(6) LGA County Council Network – Mr P Thornton be appointed to
fill the vacancy.
74

2018/19 REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING
REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

A report by the Director of Finance set out the Council’s financial position
at 30 September 2018 Quarter 2 (Q2); covering the Revenue Budget,
Capital Programme and Treasury Management. Cabinet received this
report each quarter and Directorate and Corporate Management Teams
received detailed reports monthly. This report linked to the Q2 Council
Plan Delivery Plan Performance Report set out on today’s agenda.
The financial context for the Council was extremely challenging. 2018/19
represented the eighth financial year of significant funding reductions
from central government, and the Budget for 2018/19 included
£38.829m of new savings to be delivered. Since 2011/12, the Council
had agreed a total of c£250 million of savings in setting annual revenue
budgets.
At the end of Q2, against the Revised Budget of £380.766m, the forecast
for the Revenue Budget 2018/19 at the year-end is a net pressure of
£4.593m (Q1 £2.968m). This forecast assumes the delivery of the
Budget as set out in this report, including and particularly, Promoting
Independence within People Services, for which an update is provided in
paras 4.6, 4.11 and 4.12.
The Leader took Cabinet through the key messages contained in the
report, and highlighted the following: The Directorate net pressure of £5.805m consisted of an
overall pressure in People of £8.791m, Economy &
Infrastructure of £0.362m and Corporate, Customer &
Community Services Directorate of £0.047m. These net
pressures were partly offset by underspends in the Finance
Directorate (£3.122m) and Fire & Rescue Services of
(£0.273m)

6

34

 The areas of the Council’s activities subject to the greatest
financial pressures were in People Services, and in particular,
Children Looked After where the forecast overspend at Q2
was £9.587m
 The opening balance on the General Fund as at 1 April was
£10.472m. The Council received S31 Grants to compensate
for Business Rates reliefs determined by central government.
The final grant announcement for 2018/19 was higher than
that assumed when the Budget was set by £1.433m. As this
grant was part of the Council’s core revenue funding the
additional element of £1.433m had been transferred to
General Reserves resulting in a revised General Fund position
of £11.905m as at 1 April 2018
 The forecast General Fund Balance for the 31 March 2019
having taken account of the Q2 forecast over budget outturn
of £4.593m was £7.312m. This was £2.688m below the
minimum level of General Reserve Balances target set by
Council in February 2018 was £10m
 The Council approved a capital programme for 2018/19 in
February 2018 of £135.135m for Council delivered schemes
and £2.000m for schemes where the Council is Accountable
Body. Cabinet received the Q1 Monitoring report on 27
September which set out a Capital Programme of £142.181m.
 This report sought agreement from Cabinet to decrease the
Capital Programme by (£0.413m); being additional
contributions of £0.112m and scheme budget reductions of
(£0.525m); and to recommend to Council a reduction in the
Capital Programme by (£10.132m), being budget reductions
of (£1.000m) and the net reprofiling of schemes by
(£9.132m) following a review of expenditure by 31 March.
This was a rolling programme and these changes result in a
revised Capital Programme for 2018/19 of £131.636m,
excluding the Accountable Bodies schemes. The changes are
summarised in Table 6 at paragraph 7.3. This forecast
excluded the additional highways grant announced by the
Chancellor on 31 October in the Autumn Budget of £12.004m
which has to be spent by 31 March 2019
The Leader moved an amendment to recommendation 2.1 (h) which
was:h) Recommend to Council
 the reduction of £1.000m in schemes as detailed in paragraph
7.5
 the approval of £9.630m re-profiling of schemes from
2018/19 to future years as detailed at paragraph 7.6

35

7

 the approval of £0.498m accelerated spend from the 2020/21
to 2018/19 Capital Programme for the Carlisle Southern Link
Road (CSLR) for scheme development between January and
March 2019. This will allow scheme development to continue
pending a funding decision on the HIF funding bid (for which
a decision is anticipated from Government from December
2018 onwards). If the funding bid is not successful, further
scheme development for the CSLR would then be paused at
this time until other funding sources could be identified to
deliver the scheme. Should no funding be available costs
incurred would be met from revenue resources.
Cabinet supported this amendment.
RESOLVED that, Cabinet
a)

Note the Revenue Budget at the provisional outturn for
monitoring purposes of £380.766m as a result of the transfers
from the Inflation and Contingency budget and agreed transfers
from reserves, as set out in Appendix 1 (2);

b)

Note the forecast Revenue Budget outturn of a net pressure of
£4.593m, an increase of £1.625m from the £2.968m reported
at Q1;

c)

Note progress in delivering the new savings for 2018/19 of
£38.829m; a total of £36.922m (95.1%) of these 2018/19
savings are forecast to be delivered by 31st March 2019;

d)

Note the forecast General Reserve balance at 31st March 2019
of (£7.312m) before additional mitigations throughout the year
as detailed in paragraph 6.2. This is below the minimum level of
General Reserve Balances target set by Council in February
2018 of £10m;

e)

Approve the following transfers to reserves; £0.222m to the
Elections Reserve from the inflation budget as set out in
paragraph 3.2;

f)

Approve the addition of £0.112m of additional
contributions/adjustments to schemes, as detailed in paragraph
7.4, to be included within the capital programme funded from
specific grants and contributions;

g)

Approve the reduction of £0.525m in schemes as detailed in
paragraph 7.5;

8

36

h)

Recommend to Council: the reduction of £1.000m in schemes as detailed in
paragraph 7.5
 the approval of £9.630m re-profiling of schemes from
2018/19 to future years as detailed at paragraph 7.6
 the approval of £0.498m accelerated spend from the
2020/21 to 2018/19 Capital Programme for the Carlisle
Southern Link Road (CSLR) for scheme development
between January and March 2019. This will allow scheme
development to continue pending a funding decision on the
HIF funding bid (for which a decision is anticipated from
Government from December 2018 onwards). If the funding
bid is not successful, further scheme development for the
CSLR would then be paused at this time until other funding
sources could be identified to deliver the scheme. Should
no funding be available costs incurred would be met from
revenue resources.

75

i)

Note the further additional funding allocation for 2018/19 of
£12.004m from DfT to repair roads (including potholes), bridges
and local highways infrastructure as detailed in paragraph 7.8.

j)

Note the forecast outturn for the Capital Programme 2018/19 of
£131.591m against a current budget of £131.636m (excluding
Accountable Bodies) resulting in a variance of (£0.045m) which
is made up of (£0.045m) underspend, as set out in Table 7,
paragraph 7.9.

k)

Note Treasury Management activities during Q2 have operated
within the treasury limits set out in the Council’s Treasury Policy
Statement and Treasury Strategy Statement and the Prudential
Indicators set by Council in February 2018.

CORPORATE
PERFORMANCE
QUARTER 2 2018-19

MONITORING

REPORT

-

The Leader presented a report from the Director of Finance, which
provided Cabinet with a progress update on corporate performance,
incorporating progress on the Council Plan Delivery Plan 2018/19 for the
three month period from 1 July 2018 to 30 September 2018.
Cabinet noted that where performance was below target or baseline,
action would be taken to improve performance and to bring it back on
track.

37

9

The recommendations were intended to ensure public accountability for
corporate performance and that the Council could demonstrate a good
level of public performance reporting, enable Cabinet to celebrate areas
of Council services that were performing well and to consider appropriate
action if performance was not at an acceptable level, or the pace of
improvement was slower than expected.
The overall position by the end of Quarter 2 2018/19 was that 78 of the
82 (95%) Council Plan Delivery Plan actions had delivered, met or were
on track to meet the planned milestone, or were at risk of missing the
planned milestone with a recovery plan in place. These were therefore
rated green or amber. For the same period, 4 actions (5%) had missed a
key milestone, did not fully deliver as intended and had therefore been
rated red.
The Cabinet Member for Environment asked Cabinet to note that the
County Council had recently achieved the Better Health at Work Award,
Gold level. The council was assessed against 8 criteria which included
the incorporation of health and wellbeing into strategies and workforce
plan, participation in local, regional and national health campaigns, and
how health topics were promoted in the wider community. Members
were delighted to hear this.
RESOLVED that,

76

Cabinet note overall performance relating to delivery
of
the
three
Council
Plan
outcomes
and
implementation of new ways of working, focusing on
progress against the actions and metrics identified
in Council Plan Delivery Plan 2018/19 for the 2nd
quarter ending 30 September 2018.

CUMBRIA LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP

The Leader presented a report from the Director of Finance (Section 151
Officer) which informed Cabinet that the Government published its
‘Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships’ report in July 2018. This
report introduced a number of changes for the management and
operation of Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs). The key changes were
that LEPs were to: become incorporated bodies, where they were not part of a
combined authority;
 adopt Local Assurance Frameworks that were compliant with
national guidance;
 have a single accountable body; and
 prepare Local Industrial Strategies for their area

10

38

As a result of this report, the LEP Board at its meeting on 28 September
2018 approved a revised Local Assurance Framework and new
governance structure. Subsequent to this, the LEP Board agreed at its
meeting on 23 November 2018 to the LEP becoming an incorporated
body and to ask the County Council to be its single accountable body.
This report sought approval to the changes being introduced and for the
Council to act as the LEP’s single accountable body.
The role of accountable body for the LEP had been undertaken by the
County Council since the LEPs inception, however, this had been
considered on a programme by programme basis. Government was now
requiring LEPs ‘to identify a single accountable body within each area that
was responsible for all Local Enterprise Partnership funding.’
Government advised that LEPs would ‘continue to be individually
accountable for the allocation of funding and the delivery and evaluation
of projects, with Section 151 Officers maintaining accountability for the
proper conduct of financial affairs’ within the LEP.
The LEP asked all local authorities within Cumbria if they wanted to
undertake the role of the LEP’s single accountable body. The County
Council was the only organisation that responded to the LEP. The Council
offered to be the LEP’s accountable body on the basis that a number of
conditions would be met. This was considered by the LEP Board on 23
November and the LEP agreed to ask the Council to be its accountable
body. A subsequent letter from the LEP CEO dated 3 December set out
the following conditions:
i.
ii.

iii.
iv.

v.
vi.

The County Council will hold the Vice-Chair (public sector) as
the Accountable Body.
A management fee of £150,000 to be paid to the County
Council each year as partial recovery of the costs associated
with the Accountable Body role (to be reviewed annually).
This would be distinct and separate from the costs associated
with the provision of data intelligence services and IT
provision, assumed to be £45,000 and £15,000 respectively.
The in-kind contribution from the Council is recognised as
being in the order of £250,000.
The County Council will release £336,000 of CIF revenue
funding to provide the necessary reserves to allow CLEP to
operate as a going concern at the point of incorporation and
to provide for any extraordinary expenditure, for example
staff redundancies.
Future interest received on Growth Deal and CIF will be
released to the LEP.
The parties would explore introducing a management fee on
Growth Deal and other funding applications, which would be
shared between the parties on an equitable basis.

39

11

vii.

viii.
ix.
x.

CLEP will operate Redhills [conference centre] on behalf of
the County Council and in return will receive its
accommodation at a peppercorn rent and retain any profits
created from the operation in lieu of the Council providing any
direct cash contribution to the LEP.
A revised Memorandum of Agreement would be negotiated
and included within the Local Assurance Framework.
An Accountable Body representative will attend the CLEP
Board and Investment Panel in that capacity, alongside the
official members of these bodies.
The County Council will continue to host the LEP’s current
secondees (4 posts) and will act as host employer for CLEP’s
Head of Business and a Programme Officer to increase the
potential of securing high quality candidates on the basis that
the LEP reimburses the Council for their salary and associated
employment costs;

In fulfilling the role of accountable body on behalf of the LEP, a
Memorandum of Agreement (MoA) between the Council and the LEP is
required to provide clarity on roles and responsibilities.
RESOLVED that, Cabinet
(1) notes the Government’s ‘Strengthened Local Enterprise
Partnerships’ report and that Cumbria LEP will become a
company limited by guarantee, operating as a constituted body
from 1 April 2019;
(2) agrees to the Council being Cumbria LEP’s single accountable
body and to manage all funding received from Government on
behalf of the LEP in accordance with the Local Assurance
Framework, subject to:
(i) the LEP agrees the Council’s representative on the LEP
Board holding the position of Vice-Chair
(ii) The LEP agrees a Memorandum of Agreement being in
place between the LEP and the Council in substantially
the form which is set out at Appendix 1 of the report
(iii)The LEP agrees the Council being invited to be a
corporate member of the company, with the Council’s
representative on the Board being the Leader of the
Council or as agreed by Leader
(iv) The LEP agrees the Council top-slicing LEP revenue
funding for partial recovery of the management costs
associated with being the accountable body;

12

40

(3) agree to lease the Redhills office accommodation to the LEP on
a peppercorn rent and the Council foregoes the income as part
of its financial contribution to the LEP. The authority to agree
the terms of the lease (other than the rent) is to be delegated
to the Executive Director of Economy and Infrastructure in
consultation with the Leader, Deputy Leader and Portfolio
Holder for Economic Development and Property. The LEP will
promote the economic well-being of the area, and the reduced
rent will further enhance the viability of the LEP;
(4) note the preparation of the LEP’s Local Industrial Strategy and
agrees that the Council supports this as Cumbria’s economic
strategy;
(5)

77

authorises the S151 Officer in consultation with the Leader,
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Economic Development
and Property to finalise the Memorandum of Agreement.

INTEGRATED
RISK
CONSULTATION

MANAGEMENT

PLAN

(IRMP)

The Cabinet Member for Customers, Transformation and Fire and Rescue
presented a report which detailed proposals for an updated Integrated
Risk Management Plan (IRMP).
The draft IRMP attached to this report ran for the period 2019 – 2023
and reflected the latest information on risk and demand that the service
had access to. The refreshed IRMP incorporated a Delivery Plan outlining
what the Service aimed to address over the next 4 years in respect of its
Prevention, Protection, Response and Organisational Development
activities.
Consultation would allow members of the public and other interested
parties to contribute towards the production of a final IRMP, and
publication of the draft IRMP and subsequent consultation gave the
service an opportunity to reinforce its key prevention messages
RESOLVED that,

78

Cabinet note the report and approve the draft IRMP
for consultation.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION – EXPRESSION OF
INTEREST

The Leader presented a report which outlined the submission of an
expression of interest in working with the Government to explore options
for reorganisation of local government to a unitary model in Cumbria. It
provided information on the legislative and policy context, approaches

41

13

taken by other areas in the country, and the outline case for change that
emerged from work carried out with partners through the Cumbria
Leadership Board earlier this year.
In this report, Cabinet Members were also asked to consider the views
and comments expressed by members of the County Council at the
meeting held on Thursday 15 November 2018, and the analysis of a
number of unitary models that was carried out through Cumbria
Leadership Board over the last few months attached as Appendix 1 to the
report.
The Leader took members through the report, detailing the background
and the debate held at Council about this. The views and comments
expressed in Council were broadly supportive of change and highlighted a
number of issues for Cabinet Members’ consideration. One member asked
for their disagreement with the proposal to be formally noted. The
opportunity to debate this proposal prior to consideration by Cabinet was
welcomed, and the work carried out to date with partners through the
Cumbria Leadership Board was recognised.
The decision to submit an expression of interest at this time would
demonstrate that the Council recognised the need for change in Cumbria
to support the future sustainability of local authorities and vital public
services.
The submission of an expression of interest provided an opportunity to
understand Government’s views and intentions which could be used to
inform future decision-making by the Council about further work and
allocation of capacity and resources
RESOLVED that,

79

Cabinet agrees to submit to Government an
expression of interest in exploring options for local
government reorganisation to a unitary model in
Cumbria.

RESPONSE TO ALLERDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL LOCAL PLAN
(PART 2) SITE ALLOCATIONS PRE-SUBMISSION DRAFT
CONSULTATION

The Cabinet Member for Environment presented a report which sought
Cabinet’s agreement to respond to the consultation on the Allerdale
Borough Council Site Allocations Pre-Submission Draft Local Plan. When
adopted, this Local Plan would identify key development sites in Allerdale
up to 2029.

14

42

At this stage in the plan preparation process representations needed to
address whether or not the Draft Local Plan was in compliance with legal
requirements and whether it was “sound”, i.e. positively prepared,
justified, effective and consistent with national policy.
Cumbria County Council had engaged with Allerdale Borough Council in
the development of the plan on an ongoing basis and through the
development process, the plan had undertaken a positive evolution and
could be considered to be sound.
Notwithstanding this positive
progression and broad support, a number of detailed points, intended to
enhance the plan, had been raised within this response.
If agreed this response would help to ensure the Council’s interests and
priorities were reflected within the Local Plan, ensure the integration of
Local Plan growth and infrastructure planning. It would also ensure the
deliverability of the Local Plan, and ensure the Local Plan maximised
economic growth opportunities.
RESOLVED that,

80

Cabinet approve the strategic response outlined in
the report and agree that the technical response
contained in Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 is
submitted to Allerdale Borough Council.

SCHOOL FUNDING FORMULA 2019-20

Cabinet considered a report from the Executive Director – People, and
presented by the Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning, which
reminded members that in July 2018, the Schools Minister made an
announcement on the school funding arrangements to come into force
from April 2019.
Last year, following consultation with local schools and the Schools
Forum, Cabinet agreed to adopt the National Funding Formula in 2018-19
and 2019-20. The announcement in July 2018 confirmed some changes
to the National Funding Formula and the Department for Education had
confirmed that Local authorities must consult with their local schools and
Schools Forum on an annual basis in respect of changes to the school
funding arrangements.
As in 2018-19 local authorities continued to have flexibility to decide
whether to adopt the National Funding Formula for schools (the Schools
Block) or apply a locally determined formula for 2019-20.
Local
authorities also continue to be allowed to move up to 0.5% of funding
from the Schools Block into other blocks with the agreement of Schools
Forum. Cabinet was statutorily responsible for deciding on a formula
through which funding is allocated to schools.

43

15

Following a consultation with all Cumbrian schools affected by these
proposals, Cumbria Schools Forum at its meeting on 12 November 2018,
had recommended to Cabinet that the National Funding Formula was
implemented from April 2019 for the 2019-20 financial year and that
0.5% of funding was not transferred from the Schools Block into other
blocks.
Cabinet supported this recommendation, and it was therefore
RESOLVED that Cabinet approve the recommendation of the Cumbria
Schools Forum to allocate funding to schools using the National Funding
Formula in 2019-20 with no transfer from the Schools Block into other
blocks.

81

CONSULTATION ON THE
THURSBY PRIMARY SCHOOL

PROPOSED

EXPANSION

OF

Cabinet had before it a report from the Executive Director – People,
which provided analysis on the formal consultation held between 8
October and 16 November 2018 by the County Council, to allow
members to decide whether or not to bring forward a statutory proposal
to expand Thursby Primary School.
The report explained the background to the proposed expansion and
asked Members to decide which option to pursue.
Members noted that any decision to publish a statutory notice triggered
the beginning of a formal ‘representation period’ during which interested
parties could submit their views on the proposal.
The recent housing development at Matty Lonning for 69 houses laid
within the catchment area of Thursby Primary School. This number and
mix of housing types would yield 17 primary aged children using the
dwelling led model detailed in the county council’s Planning Obligations
Policy.
Thursby Primary School had capacity for 105 children and had 104
children on roll at the January 2018 pupil census. Projections showed
that the school was likely to remain full, or nearly full, for the foreseeable
future before any additional housing was considered.
A section 106 agreement with the developer provided £224k in funds and
along with the £156k from council funding (Delegated Schools Grant and
brought forward maintenance funds) sufficient monies to provide a single
new classroom at the school were available. Class size organisation
meant that it was more practical to build a classroom for 30 rather than a
space to accommodate only the 17 pupil yield from the development.

16

44

Cabinet noted that the extra classroom space would ensure that there
were sufficient places for the anticipated additional children from the new
estate as well as providing a small operational surplus of places, and that
the building works would also establish a new main entrance, additional
withdrawal space appropriate to the size of the school and would relocate
the office to improve access and safeguarding.
RESOLVED that,

82

Cabinet agree to publish the statutory notice
proposing the expansion of Thursby Primary School.

2020-2021 SCHOOL ADMISSIONS ARRANGEMENTS

The Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning presented a report which
set out the proposed admission arrangements for Community and
Voluntary Controlled schools, for which the county council was the
statutory admission authority. The Local Authority (LA) was required to
consult other admission authorities on any changes to the policy,
including catchment areas and proposed reductions to published
admission numbers (PANs). The LA must also consult the governing
bodies of Community and Voluntary Controlled schools where it proposed
to increase or retain the existing Published Admission Number (PAN) for
2020-21.
On 27 September 2018, after considering the options set out in the
published report and for the reasons set out in the report, Cabinet
resolved that:
 the amended admissions policy for Community and Voluntary
Controlled schools be approved to go out to consultation with
the required groups as set out in the School Admissions Code
2014, paragraph 1.44. This included consultation on
proposals to reduce the Published Admission Number (PAN)
for Kirkbampton CE School and Brook Street School; and
proposed changes to the oversubscription criteria in relation
to children previously in care outside England, children of
staff at a school and faith based criteria;
 the proposed co-ordinated scheme for 2020-21 for
Community and Voluntary Controlled schools be approved for
consultation;
 the proposed definition of relevant areas for admission
authorities in Cumbria for the period 2020-21 to 2022-23 be
circulated for consultation with relevant schools;
 consultation be undertaken on an increase to the PAN at
Thursby Primary School, and on the retention of the existing

45

17

PANs at all other Community and Voluntary Controlled
schools
 the publication of statutory notices related to changes to age
range at the schools set out in paragraph 52 of the report be
approved.
The School Admissions Code 2014 came into force on 19 December 2014
replacing the School Admissions Code 2012.
The County Council retains the role of admissions authority for
Community and Voluntary Controlled schools in the county, and must
determine admission arrangements by 28 February 2019 for the 2020-21
academic year.
The county council also retained responsibility for co-ordinating the main
admissions round for all maintained schools and academies in the county.
It was required to formulate a co-ordinated scheme setting out the
various stages in the admissions process by 1 January 2019 for the
2020-21 academic year.
The co-ordinated scheme was last consulted on during the spring term
2012. That consultation was in respect of the co-ordinated scheme that
was applied to admissions for the 2013-14 academic year. Since 201314 there had been no significant changes to the co-ordinated scheme and
members had approved the updated scheme annually without
consultation.
As set out in the School Admissions Code 2014, the LA must consult on
co-ordinated scheme for 2020-21 during the autumn term 2018.
Consultation on the co-ordinated scheme for 2020-21 took place for a 6
week period between 3 October 2018 and 13 November 2018.
The Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning then took members
through the report in detail, highlighting:











The Consultation Process
Children Previously Looked After outside England
Oversubscription Criteria – Children of Staff at a School
Faith Based Oversubscription Criteria in Schools Designated
with a Religious Character
Relevant Area
Nursery Admissions Policy 2019-20
Changes of Age Range – Addition of Nursery Provision
PAN Changes
Other Consultation Responses
Catchment Areas
Children of UK Service Personnel

18

46

RESOLVED that,
(1) Cabinet approve the admissions policy for Community and
Voluntary Controlled schools at Appendix A including the
reduction in the Published Admission Number (PAN) for
Kirkbampton CE School and Brook Street School, and an
increase in PAN at Thursby Primary School;
(2) Cabinet approve the co-ordinated admission scheme for 202021 for Community and Voluntary Controlled schools, Appendix B
of the report;
(3) Cabinet approve the definition of relevant areas for admission
authorities in Cumbria for the period 2020-21 to 2022-23,
Appendix C of the report;
(4) Cabinet approve the nursery admissions policy for 2020-21 for
Community and Voluntary Controlled nursery schools and
infant/primary schools providing nursery education, Appendix D
of the report;
(5) Cabinet approve changes to age range at the schools listed in
paragraph 60.
83

CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER STRATEGY AND CARE LEAVER
OFFER

The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services presented a report which
detailed the refresh of the Children Looked After Strategy, and included
the Care Leaver Offer as an appendix. If agreed this refreshed strategy
would replace the 2015-18 Children Looked After Strategy.
The strategy had had extensive engagement with children and young
people. The Children in Care Councils fed in their views on the national
Corporate Parenting principles and what they meant to them. This was
used to develop the main content of the strategy. Children and young
people had written the vision for the strategy, so the vision was their
vision for what they want the Council and partners to achieve for their
futures. They came up with the title, and used art, poetry and stories to
set out what the strategy meant to them. This material had been
included in the appendices.
The Cabinet Member then introduced 3 of the young care leavers that
had been involved extensively in the production of the strategy and
thanked them for their insight and level of engagement, which had
proved to be invaluable. The three young people explained how they had
been involved in the strategy, and what if delivered, for all children
looked after, the impact it would have.

47

19

The focus of the 2015-18 strategy was around how the Council could
demonstrate sustainable improvement. This was a realistic reflection of
the position at the time, but lacked ambition given the current position of
the service.
The refreshed strategy had been written with the aim of giving the
members, led by the Corporate Parenting Board, a vision for how the
service could get to Good and beyond to Outstanding.
The Cabinet Member informed members that the Care Leaver Offer was
being developed alongside the refreshed strategy, and was published as
an appendix to the strategy. In the Care Leaver offer, care leavers up to
the age of 25 would be able to see what services and support were
available from the Council and partners. The offer had been published on
the County Council website and was a living document. This meant it
would be periodically reviewed and kept up to date to reflect changes in
the offer.
RESOLVED that,

Cabinet agree the refresh of the strategy.

The meeting ended at 12.25 pm

20

48

Agenda Item 8
COUNTY COUNCIL
Meeting date: 10 January 2019
From:

Chair of Scrutiny Management Board

SCRUTINY UPDATE REPORT
1.0

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1

This report updates Full Council on the work of Scrutiny and any
issues and developments that have occurred since the last meeting of
Full Council.

2.0

ISSUES FOR FULL COUNCIL

2.1

Members are asked to:
 Note recent activity undertaken by Scrutiny.
 Note the work programme provided as Appendix One.

3.0

BACKGROUND

3.1

In this report the Chair of Scrutiny Management Board would like to advise
Members of the following issues:

3.2

Scrutiny Work Programme

3.3

Members are invited to note the Work Programme presented as Appendix
One to the report.

3.4

Additional Scrutiny activity:

3.5

Additional activity that has taken place since the last update to Council or
key activity that is underway is noted below:
 All non-executive Members were invited to a Scrutiny Strategic
Planning session on 3rd December. Members heard from the Deputy
Leader of the Council and senior officers about the approach to
financial sustainability. Views were shared on the approach to savings
for 2019/20; how future savings could be made; and how Scrutiny
could be engaged in the future.

49

 Scrutiny made its response to Cabinet on 20th December on the
budget consultation. Three recommendations were made all of which
were agreed.
 Scrutiny Management Board last met on 22 November and
considered progress with delivery of the Sustainable Procurement
Strategy.
 The Communities and Place Board last met on 20 November and
considered the IRMP, area working, Borderlands and the Local
Industrial Strategy.
 Children and Young Peoples Board met on 7th December. Key issues
for discussion were an update on the Children’s Improvement Plan,
the Children and Young People Plan and School attainment.
 Health Scrutiny met on 18th December and discussed items including
learning disabilities and mental health services, digital records and the
potential merger between Cumbria Partnership Foundation Trust and
North Cumbia University Hospital NHS Trust
 The Adults Board last met on 10th October and considered day
services and adults safeguarding
3.6

Performance Working Group

3.7

The Performance Working Group last met on 9th October to consider the
Quarter 1 corporate performance report and performance with permanent
exclusions. The Group will meet again in January to consider Quarter 2
performance with the Council Plan Delivery Plan.

3.8

Call Ins

3.9

No Call Ins have been received since the last meeting of Council.

4.0

CONCLUSION

4.1

The Boards continue to explore key issues for the Council in order to provide
scrutiny and challenge. The Work Programme will be kept under review so
that key issues can be considered in a timely manner to support the Council
deliver its priorities.

Helen Blake
Senior Manager Policy and Scrutiny
20 December 2018
APPENDICES
Appendix 1 - Scrutiny Work Programme
Contact: Helen Blake
Tel No
01228 226639 Email helen.blake@cumbria.gov.uk

50

Panel

Nov-18

Dec-18

Jan-19

Feb-19

Mar-19

Update on
Approach to
Enterprise

Board Meeting

Deep Dive

Task Group

Children's and Young
People Scrutiny Advisory
Board

Board Meeting

Task Group

Board Meeting

Task Group

51
Communities & Place
Scrutiny Advisory Board

Scrutiny self-assessment activity

Children
Improvement Plan,
Children and
Young People's
Plan, School
Attainment

Comments

Discussion on approach to enterprise and
commercialism

Delivery of
Sustainable
Procurement
Strategy
Waste and
Chair and Vice
Recycling Chair of SMB to
opportunities to
sign off report
maximise impact of
work with the Third
Sector
Delivery of
Integrated Risk
Management Plan,
Social prescription
and tackling
loneliness, Area
working,
Borderlands
Growth Deal and
Local Industrial
Strategy

May-19

Strategic Planning Session for all non
executives in December. Report to
Cabinet in December
Chairs and Vice Chairs taking work
forward with self assessment

Strategic Planning input

Scrutiny Management
Board

Apr-19

Task and Finish
Report to Cabinet

Refresh of
Integrated Risk
Management Plan

Delivery of the
Customer
Strategy; Update
on long term
absenteeism;
Annual Report

Social prescription
and tackling
loneliness, Fire
and Rescue
Service Inspection
preparation

Children's
Improvement Plan,
Barnardo's
Growing Up in
Cumbria, CSE
Update,

The Board will explore how recycling and
re-use of household waste across the
county could be maximised through a
better understanding and co-ordination of
the range of existing activities and the
potential to share good practice.

Nov-18

Health Scrutiny
Committee

Jan-19

Feb-19

Mar-19

Apr-19

Joint Advisory Group

Safeguarding
Adults at Risk of
Neglect or Abuse

Update on delivery
of a Strength
Based Approach to
Social Care;
Delayed Transfers
of Care;
Safeguarding
Reablement
Waiting Times;
Learning Disability
and Autism Board;
Promoting
Independence
Programme
Joint Advisory Group

52

HealthCare for the
Future of WNE;
Mental Health
Services;
HealthWatch
Learning
Disabilities Report;
Potential Merger
between CPFT and
NCUHT;
Digital Records;

Board Meeting

Task Group

Adults Scrutiny Advisory
Board

Dec-18

Board Meeting

Task Group

Panel

Corporate
Performance
Report

Scrutiny Management
Board Performance
Working Group
Cabinet

Legend
SMB - Consideration of Report

HealthCare for the
Future of WNE
Mental Health
Services
North Cumbria
Primary Care
Limited
Cancer Survival
Rates
NCUHT CQC
Report
CPFT & NCUHT
Potential Merger,
Summary Business
Case

Ongoing

Review in Progress

Scoping

Timetable

May-19

Comments
To understand the challenges and risks to
the Council and how these are being
addressed. Initial focus on Delayed
Transfers of Care (DTOC) and
implementation of Integrated Care
Communities (ICCs).

To understand the challenges and risks to
the Council and how these are being
addressed. Initial focus on Delayed
Transfers of Care (DTOC) and
implementation of Integrated Care
Communities (ICCs).

Agenda Item 10
COUNTY COUNCIL
Meeting date:
From:

10 January 2019

The Leader of the Council

UPDATE OF THE CONSTITUTION
1.0

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

This report recommends the Council adopt certain changes to the
Constitution, to maintain it as an up to date, living document. The
changes are; new Terms of Reference for Cumbria Local Pensions
Board (Part 2P) and Cumbria Fire Local Pensions Board (Part 2Q), new
Officers’ Code of Conduct (Part 6B) and new Anti-Fraud, Bribery and
Corruption Policy (Part 6D).

2.0

STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

2.1

The Constitution is a key part of the Council’s governance framework.

2.2

There are no specific equality implications arising out of any of the
recommendations in this report.

3.0

RECOMMENDATION

3.1

Members are recommended to approve the following documents as
updates to Parts of the Constitution, replacing current Parts:
a)

Appendix 1 – Terms of Reference Cumbria Local Pensions Board
(Part 2P)

b)

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference Cumbria Fire Local Pensions
Board (Part 2Q)

c)

Appendix 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct (Part 6B)

d)

Appendix 7 - Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy (Part 6D)

4.0

BACKGROUND

4.1

Constitution Review Group met on the 03 December 2018 to consider
reports recommending updates to four Parts of the Constitution. Constitution
Review Group has subsequently agreed to refer the updates set out in
Appendices 1 to 4 of this report to the full Council for adoption into the
Constitution.

53

4.2

If adopted, the updated Parts will replace current Parts of the Constitution in
full. The proposed changes and reasons for the proposals, in respect of
each of the Parts, are explained below.
Cumbria Local Pensions Board (Part 2P) & Cumbria Fire Local
Pensions Board (Part 2Q)

4.3

The proposed Terms of Reference for the Local Pensions Boards are at
Appendix 1 and 3, with the current Terms of Reference at Appendix 2 and 4.

4.4

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
published updated guidance for Local Pension Boards in May 2018. As a
result the opportunity has been taken to review the current Terms of
Reference for Cumbria Local Pension Board and Cumbria Fire Local
Pension Board with a view to updating these and ensuring they align to
CIPFA guidance.

4.5

The provisions surrounding quorum have been updated to clarify that at least
one representative of the employers and one of the scheme members must
be present for the Boards to be quorate.

4.6

Board membership comprises of three scheme member representatives and
three scheme employer representatives. Members are appointed to the
Board through application, matching a role profile and interview and the
three employer representatives are allocated one to the County Council; one
to the District Councils and one for all other employers in the Fund. As a
result the Boards are not politically proportionate and currently only contain
one County Councillor.

4.7

The current terms of reference
result a new set of clauses
proposed terms of reference
substitute. The substitutes will
members.

4.8

In addition to this amendments have been made to the requirements on
Local Pension Board Members to clarify that they attend ‘sufficient’ rather
than ‘all’ training to fulfil the requirements of Board membership. This was
considered by Constitution Review Group to be a proportionate approach to
training and development in accordance with the CIPFA guidance.

4.9

Finally, a number of other minor other changes to wording have been made
for the purposes of clarification.

of the Boards do not permit substitution, as a
on substitution have been included in the
to permit each Board member to have a
be appointed in the same way as the Board

Officers’ Code of Conduct (Part 6B)
4.10

The proposed Officers’ Code of Conduct is set out at Appendix 5, with the
current Officers’ Code of Conduct set out at Appendix 6.

4.11

The Council has had an Officers’ Code of Conduct in place for many years. It
is an important part of the Council’s governance framework, setting out the
ethical standards and conduct expected of officers. As with the Member
Code, the Officer Code has as at its foundation the Nolan standards of
conduct in public life.

54

4.12

There is no statutory form of officer code, however, so the form and content
of the Code remains a matter of discretion for individual local authorities. It
is some years since the Council’s Code has been reviewed and the current
review has been carried out to ensure that the Code remains fit for purpose.

4.13

The review forms part of the Monitoring Officer’s review of corporate
governance, one of whose aims is to ensure that key policies and codes are
accessible to readers. The Officer Code has been reviewed with this aim in
mind.

4.14

The proposed Code provides greater clarity on its application to officers,
including when acting externally, strengthening requirements regarding gifts
and hospitality, and reinforcing required conduct regarding financial conduct.
Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy (Part 6D)

4.15

The proposed Anti-Fraud, Bribery & Corruption Policy is set out at Appendix
7, with the current Anti-Fraud, Bribery & Corruption Policy set out at
Appendix 8.

4.16

The Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy has been reviewed in the
context of recent changes in the law requiring a more proactive approach to
preventing tax evasion, promoting greater awareness of related offences to
money laundering, including criminal & terrorist activity. A number of
changes are proposed to the policy to reflect these changes, in relation to
money laundering and the Proceeds of Crime Act, as well as to integrate
money laundering and tax evasion measures into the main body of the
Policy.

4.17

Another key change, in section 10 of the Policy, sets out a revised reporting
structure for financial irregularities, which makes use of technology to
streamline the process. In addition to this process the Policy draws attention
to the Whistleblowing Policy & Speak Up statement which enables
individuals to make disclosures in the public interest where they feel unable
to report under other policies.

5.0

OPTIONS

5.1

Members may approve amendments to the proposed documents. Members
should satisfy themselves that they have fully appraised the implications of
any such amendments for the relevant Part of the Constitution and the
Constitution as a whole.

5.2

Members may choose not to approve the proposed documents. Previous
versions of the relevant Parts will continue to apply.

6.0

RESOURCE AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS
Local Pension Boards: The proposed changes regarding substitutes on the
Boards have minor implications in terms of additional administration and
costs (predominantly in relation to appointment, training and reasonable
travel expenses for attendance at meetings and training sessions, in line with
the County Council’s agreed policies and rates for elected members). The
appointment of and training for substitutes will be undertaken in conjunction

55

with other members of the relevant Board, it is therefore anticipated that
such costs will be marginal. All such costs of the Cumbria Local Pension
Board will be met directly by the Pension Fund. All such costs of the
Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board will be met by the service. There are no
other material financial implications arising as a result of the recommended
changes which are designed to ensure that the Cumbria Local Pensions
Board and Cumbria Fire Local Pensions Board are up to date and facilitate
the effective operation of the Pension Schemes.
7.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1

The amendments to the Constitution proposed above are reserved to full
Council.

8.0

CONCLUSION

8.1

This report sets out proposed changes to the Constitution to ensure it is up
to date and fit for purpose. Members are requested to approve the
recommended changes.

Iolanda Puzio
Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer
21 December 2018
APPENDICES
Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3
Appendix 4
Appendix 5
Appendix 6
Appendix 7
Appendix 8

Proposed Terms of Reference for
Cumbria Local Pensions Board
Current Terms of Reference for
Cumbria Local Pensions Board
Proposed Terms of Reference for
Cumbria Fire Local Pensions Board
Current Terms of Reference of
Cumbria Fire Local Pensions Board
Proposed Officers’ Code of Conduct
Current Officers Code of Conduct
Proposed Anti-Fraud, Bribery and
Corruption Policy
Current Anti-Fraud, Bribery and
Corruption Policy

Electoral Division(s):

Part 2P
Part 2P
Part 2Q
Part 2Q
Part 6B
Part 6B
Part 6D
Part 6D

All

Executive Decision

No

Key Decision

No

If a Key Decision, is the proposal published in the current Forward Plan?

No

Is the decision exempt from call-in on grounds of urgency?

No

If exempt from call-in, has the agreement of the Chair of the relevant

56

N/A

Overview and Scrutiny Committee been sought or obtained?
Has this matter been considered by Overview and Scrutiny?
If so, give details below.

No

Has an environmental or sustainability impact assessment been
undertaken?

No

Has an equality impact assessment been undertaken?

No

N.B.

If an executive decision is made, then a decision cannot be implemented until the
expiry of the eighth working day after the date of the meeting – unless the decision is
urgent and exempt from call-in and the Head of Member Services and Scrutiny has
obtained the necessary approvals.

PREVIOUS RELEVANT COUNCIL OR EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
No previous relevant decisions.
CONSIDERATION BY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
Not considered by Overview and Scrutiny.
BACKGROUND PAPERS
No background papers.
RESPONSIBLE CABINET MEMBER
Mr Stewart Young - Leader of the Council
REPORT AUTHOR
Contact: Iolanda Puzio, Chief Legal Officer, Iolanda.puzio@cumbria.gov.uk

57

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1
Part 2P: Cumbria Local Pension Board
1

Summary

1.1 The Cumbria Local Pension Board is responsible for assisting the
Administering Authority of the Cumbria Local Government Scheme to comply
with all relevant legislative requirements and to ensure the effective governance
of the scheme.
2

Functions of the Local Pension Board

2.1 The functions of the Local Pension Board are to:
(a) Assist the Administering Authority of the Cumbria Local Government
Pension Scheme secure compliance with:
(i) The regulations covering administration of a Local Government
Pension Scheme (‘LGPS’); and
(ii) Other legislation relating to the governance and administration of the
LGPS; and
(iii) The requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in relation to
the LGPS; and
(b) To ensure the effective and efficient governance and administration of the
LGPS.
2.2 The Board must have a policy and framework to meet the knowledge and
understanding requirements of section 248A of the Pensions Act 2004.
2.3 In its role in assisting the Administering Authority as described above, the Local
Pension Board shall report at least twice yearly to the Pensions Committee on
matters reviewed and suggestions for their consideration.
2.4 Where the Board is concerned that due consideration has not been given to
matters of non-compliance the Board may submit a report for consideration by
the Audit and Assurance Committee as the body designated by the
Administering Authority with the capacity to investigate such matters on its
behalf.
2.5 The Board is constituted under the Public Service Pension Act 2013 and the
Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment) (Governance) Regulations

59

2014 and is therefore not subject to the requirements of S.101 of the Local
Government Act 1972.
2.6 The Board has no remit as a decision making body but is established to assist
the Administration Authority to fulfil its functions which shall be deemed to cover
all aspects of governance and administration of the Pensions Fund.
3

Operating Structure and Codes of Conduct of the Local Pension Board

3.1 The operating structure and codes of conduct of the Local Pension Board is as
follows:
(a) The Board will be quorate if 25% of designated members (i.e. two) are in
attendance, with at least one member representing employers and at least
one member representing scheme members.
(b) Prior to appointment to the Board all members will be required to sign up
to the Board’s Code of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest Policy. As a body
representing the public interest the Code of Conduct and Conflicts of
Interest Policy of members of the Local Pension Board will be aligned to
those applicable to members of the Pensions Committee.
(c) The Board will meet as a minimum twice a year. Meetings will be held
during normal working hours and will predominantly be held within County
boundaries.
(d) Where required, a minimum of two Board members (one from the member
representatives and one from the employer representatives) or the
Administering Authority can request a special meeting be convened.
Notice of ten working days must be given.
(e) As a non-decision-making body the Board has no authority to establish
working parties / subgroups.
(f) Each member shall have an equal vote and should it be required, the Chair
will have the casting vote.
4

Commissioning of Service providers and Advisors

4.1 All members of the Local Pension Board have the right to access the support of
the experienced Local Government Pension Scheme Independent Advisors,
however due regard has to be taken of securing value for money and as such
whether in the first instance officers of the County Council could provide the
assistance required.

60

4.2 Items of expenditure by the Board must have prior approval from the Section
151 Officer.
5

Role of Officers

5.1 Reasonable secretarial and professional support will be provided by officers of
the Administering Authority. Costs associated with this will be directly charged
to the Pension Fund.
6

Publication and Data Protection

6.1 As a general principle, meetings will be open to the public.
6.2 Paper or electronic versions (as requested) of all agendas and papers will be
provided to all members of the Local Pension Board prior to a meeting. The
Chair can accept that items be tabled on the day should such a need arise.
6.3 As a matter of policy the Pensions Fund has adopted the principles of
paperless working, therefore as a matter of course public access to all
agendas, public papers and minutes etc. will be available on the Council’s
website. On request, alternative media versions are available.
6.4 The County Council as the Administration Authority is the registered data
controller of the Cumbria LGPS, and as such all policies and practices in this
regard applicable within the County Council are directly applicable to the Board.
7

Membership

7.1 Equal representation between scheme employers and scheme members is
required. The membership of the Cumbria Local Pension Board will comprise
three scheme member representatives and three scheme employer
representatives.
7.2 Appointment of Board members – To ensure an open and transparent
selection process and to ensure the administering authority meets its obligation
to ensure appointed members have the capacity the selection process will be
through application, matching to a role profile and interview. The appointment
panel will consist of the Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer and Portfolio
Holder for Finance. Appointments will be for four years (or, in the case of
elected members for the remainder of their current term of office) and there will
be no limit on the number of times a member of the board can seek to be
reappointed. The three employer representatives will be allocated 1 to the
County Council; 1 to the District Councils and 1 for all other employers in the
Fund. The three scheme member representatives will be selected to ensure all
membership groups within the Fund are considered.

61

7.3 Appointment of the Chair/Vice Chair – the administering authority will appoint
the Chair and the Vice Chair. The roles will be split with one being a scheme
member representative and one being a scheme employer representative and
this will be alternated on a two yearly cycle.
7.4 Reimbursement of reasonable travel expenses for attendance at meetings and
training sessions will be in line with the County Council’s agreed policies and
rates for elected members. All such costs will be met directly by the Pension
Fund.
7.5 Relevant knowledge and capacity – the administering authority must ensure
that each person appointed to the Local Pension Board has the relevant
knowledge and the capacity to represent the employers or members (as
appropriate) of the Pensions Fund. Initially this will be done through selection
but, following appointment, it is a member’s individual responsibility to ensure
they attend sufficient training to enable them to continue to fulfil the knowledge
and capacity requirements. Full training will be provided and all reasonable
costs will be met by the Pensions Fund. To ensure compliance with the above a
general level of attendance at meetings and training events is required.
8

Substitution

8.1 Substitutes are permitted and sufficient substitutes will be appointed to ensure
that the representation described in 7.2 can be maintained whenever a
substitution is required.
8.2 In recognition of the requirements relating to relevant knowledge and capacity,
substitutes must be subject to the same appointment process as Board
members detailed in 7.2 and the relevant knowledge and capacity requirements
as set out at 7.5. Each substitute will be appointed for a four year term (or, in
the case of elected members for the remainder of their current term of office)
and there is no limit on the number of times the substitute can seek to be
reappointed.
8.3 Reimbursement of reasonable travel expenses for attendance at meetings and
training sessions will be in line with the County Council’s agreed policies and
rates for elected members. All such costs will be met directly by the Pension
Fund.

62

Appendix 2

Part 2P: Cumbria Local Pensions Board
1
1.1

Summary
The Cumbria Local Pensions Board is responsible for assisting the
Administering Authority of the Cumbria Local Government Scheme to
comply with all relevant legislative requirements and to ensure the
effective governance of the scheme.

2

Functions of the Local Pensions Board

2.1

The functions of the Local Pensions Board are to:
(a) Assist the Administering Authority of the Cumbria Local Government
Pension Scheme secure compliance with:
(i)
The regulations covering administration of a Local
Government Pension Scheme (‘LGPS’); and
(ii)
Other legislation relation to the governance and
administration of the LGPS; and
(iii)
The requirements imposed by
Regulator in relation to the LGPS; and

the

Pensions

(iv)
Ensure the effective and efficient governance and
administration of the LGPS.
2.2 The Board must have a policy and framework to meet the knowledge and
understanding requirements of section 248A of the Pensions Act 2004.
2.3 In its role in assisting the Administering Authority as described above, the
Local Pensions Board shall report twice yearly to the Pensions
Committee on matters reviewed and suggestions for their
consideration.
2.4 Where the Board is concerned that due consideration has not been given
to matters of non-compliance the Board may submit a report for
consideration by the Audit and Assurance Committee as the body
designated by the Administering Authority with the capacity to
investigate such matters on its behalf.
2.5 The Board is constituted under the Public Service Pension Act 2013 and
the Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment) (Governance)

63

Regulations 2014 and is therefore not subject to the requirements of
S.101 of the Local Government Act 1972.
2.6 The Board has no remit as a decision making body but is established to
assist the Administration Authority to fulfil its functions which shall be
deemed to cover all aspects of governance and administration of the
Pensions Fund.

3

Operating Structure and Codes of Conduct of the Local
Pensions Board

3.1

The operating structure and codes of conduct of the Local Pensions Board is
as follows:
(a)
The Board will be quorate if 25% of designated members
(i.e. two) are in attendance.
(b)
Prior to appointment to the Board all members will be
required to sign up to the Board’s Code of Conduct and Conflicts
of Interest Policy. As a body representing the public interest the
Code of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest Policy of members of
the Local Pensions Board will be aligned to those applicable to
members of the Pensions Committee.
(c)
The Board will meet as a minimum twice a year.
Meetings will be held during normal working hours and will
predominantly be held within County boundaries.
(d)
Where required, a minimum of two Board members (one
from the member representatives and one from the employer
representatives) or the Administering Authority can request a
special meeting be convened. Notice of ten working days must
be given.
(e)
As a non-decision-making body the Board have no
authority to establish working parties / subgroups.
(f)
Each member shall have an equal vote and should it be
required, the Chair will have the casting vote.

4

Commissioning of Service providers and Advisors

4.1 All members of the Local Pensions Board have the right to access the
support of the experienced Local government Pension Scheme
Independent Advisors, however due regard has to be taken of securing
value for money and as such whether in the first instance officers of the
County Council could provide the assistance required.

64

4.2 Items of expenditure by the Board must have prior approval from the Section
151 Officer.

5

Role of Officers

5.1 Reasonable secretarial and professional support will be provided by
officers of the Administering Authority. Costs associated with this will
be directly charged to the Pension Fund.

6

Publication and Data Protection

6.1

As a general principle meetings will be open to the public.

6.2 Paper or electronic versions (as requested) of all agendas and papers
will be provided to all members of the Local Pensions Board prior to a
meeting. The Chair can accept that items be tabled on the day should
such a need arise.
6.3 As a matter of policy the Pensions Fund has adopted the principles of
paperless working, therefore as a matter of course public access to all
agendas, public papers and minutes etc. will be available on the
Council’s website. On request alternative media versions are available.
6.4 The County Council as the Administration Authority is the registered data
controller of the Cumbria LGPS, and as such all policies and practices
in this regard applicable within the County Council are directly
applicable to the Board.

7

Membership

7.1 Equal representation between scheme employers and scheme members
is required. The membership of the Cumbria Local Pensions Board will
comprise three scheme member representatives and three scheme
employer representatives. Substitutes are not permitted.
7.2 Appointment of Board members –To ensure an open and transparent
selection process and to ensure the administering authority meets its
obligation to ensure appointed members have the capacity the
selection process will be through application, matching to a role profile
and interview. The appointment panel will consist of the Section 151
Officer, Monitoring Officer and Portfolio Holder for Finance.
Appointments will be for four years and there will be no limit on the
number of times a member of the board can seek to be reappointed.
The three employer representatives will be allocated 1 to the County
Council; 1 to the District Councils and 1 for all other employers in the

65

Fund. The three scheme member representatives will be selected to
ensure all membership groups within the Fund are covered.
7.3 Appointment of the Chair/Vice Chair – the administering authority will
appoint the Chair and the Vice Chair. The roles will be split with one
being a scheme representative member rep and one being a scheme
representative employer rep and this will be alternated on a two yearly
cycle.
7.4 Reimbursement of reasonable travel expenses for attendance at meetings
and training sessions will be in line with the County Council’s agreed
policies and rates for elected members. All such costs will be met
directly by the Pension Fund.
7.5 Relevant knowledge capacity – the administering authority must ensure
that each person appointed to the Local Pensions Board has the
relevant knowledge and the capacity to represent the employers or
members (as appropriate) of the Pensions Fund. Initially this will be
done through selection but, following appointment, it is a member’s
individual responsibility to ensure they attend all training etc. to enable
them to continue to fulfil the knowledge and capacity requirements.
Full training will be provided and all reasonable costs will be met by the
Pensions Fund. To ensure compliance with the above a general level
of attendance at meetings and training events is required.

66

APPENDIX 3
Part 2Q: Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board
1

Summary

1.1 The Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board is responsible for assisting the
Administering Authority of the Cumbria Local Government Scheme to comply
with all relevant legislative requirements and to ensure the effective governance
of the scheme for Cumbria Firefighters Pensions.
2

Functions of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board

2.1 The functions of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board are to:
(a) Assist the Scheme Manager of the Cumbria Firefighters’ Pension Scheme
to secure compliance with:
(i) The regulations covering administration of the Firefighters’ Pension
Schemes (FPS);
(ii) Other legislation relating to the governance and administration of the
FPS; and
(iii) The requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in relation to
the FPS; and
(b) To ensure the effective and efficient governance and administration of the
FPS.
2.2 The Board must have a policy and framework to meet the knowledge and
understanding requirements of section 248A of the Pensions Act 2004.
2.3 In its role in assisting the Scheme Manager as described above, the Board
shall report twice yearly to Council on matters reviewed and suggestions for
their consideration.
2.4 Where the Board is concerned that due consideration has not been given to
matters of non-compliance the Board may submit a report for consideration by
the Audit and Assurance Committee as the body designated by the Scheme
Manager with the capacity to investigate such matters on its behalf.
2.5 The Board is constituted under the Public Service Pension Act 2013 and the
Fire Pension Scheme (Amendment) (Governance) Regulations 2014 and is
therefore not subject to the requirements of s.101 of the Local Government Act
1972.

67

2.6 The Board has no remit as a decision making body but is established to assist
the Scheme Manager fulfil its functions which shall be deemed to cover all
aspects of governance and administration of the Pension Scheme.
3

Operating Structure and Codes of Conduct of the Cumbria Fire Local
Pension Board

3.1 The operating structure and codes of conduct of the Cumbria Fire Local
Pension Board is as follows:
a) The Board will be quorate if 50% of designated members (i.e. 2) are in
attendance.
b) Prior to appointment to the Board all members will be required to sign up to
the Board’s Code of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest Policy. As a body
representing the public interest the Code of Conduct and Conflicts of
Interest Policy of members of the Fire Local Pension Board will be aligned
to those applicable to members of the Pension Committee.
c) The Board will meet as a minimum twice a year. Meetings will be held
during normal working hours and will predominantly be held within County
boundaries.
d) Where required, a minimum of two Board members (one from the scheme
member representatives and one from the scheme employer
representatives) or the Scheme Manager can request a special meeting
be convened. Notice of ten working days must be given.
e) As a non-decision-making body the Board have no authority to establish
working parties / sub-groups.
f) Each member shall have an equal vote and, should it be required, the Chair
will have the casting vote.
4

Commissioning of Service providers and Advisors

4.1 All members of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board have the right to access
the support of independent advisors, however due regard has to be taken of
securing value for money and as such whether in the first instance officers of
the County Council could provide the assistance required.
4.2 Items of expenditure by the Board must have prior approval from the Section
151 Officer.

68

5

Role of Officers

5.1 Reasonable secretarial and professional support will be provided by Officers of
the Scheme Manager. Costs associated with this will be charged to Cumbria
Fire and Rescue Service.
6

Publication and Data Protection

6.1 As a general principle meetings will be open to the public.
6.2 Paper or electronic versions (as requested) of all agendas and papers will be
provided to all members of the Board prior to a meeting. The Chair can accept
that items be tabled on the day should such a need arise.
6.3 As a matter of policy the Pension Board has adopted the principals of paperless
working, therefore as a matter of course public access to all agendas, public
papers and minutes etc. will be available on the Council’s website. On request
alternative media versions are available.
6.4 The County Council as the Scheme Manager is the registered data controller of
the Cumbria FPS, and as such all policies and practices in this regard
applicable within the County Council are directly applicable to the Board.
7

Membership

7.1 Equal representation between scheme employers and scheme members is
required. The membership of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board will
comprise two scheme member representatives and two scheme employer
representatives.
7.2 Appointment of Board members - to ensure an open and transparent
selection process and to ensure the Scheme Manager meets its obligation to
ensure appointed members have the relevant understanding and capacity, the
selection process will be through application, matching to a role profile and
interview. The Appointment Panel will consist of the Section 151 Officer,
Monitoring Officer and Portfolio Holder for Finance.
7.3 Appointments will be for four years (or, in the case of elected members for the
remainder of their current term of office) and there will be no limit on the
number of times a member of the board can seek to be reappointed.
7.4 The two scheme member representatives will be selected to ensure all
membership groups within the Fund are considered.

69

7.5 Appointment of the Chair / Vice Chair – the Scheme Manager will appoint
the Chair and the Vice Chair. The roles will be split with one being a scheme
member representative and one being a scheme employer representative and
this will be alternated on a two yearly cycle.
7.6 Reimbursement of reasonable expenses for attendance at meetings and
training sessions will be in line with the Council’s agreed policies and rates for
elected members. All such costs will be met directly by Cumbria Fire and
Rescue Service.
7.7 Relevant knowledge and capacity – the Scheme Manager must ensure that
each person appointed to the Board has the relevant knowledge and the
capacity to represent the employers or members (as appropriate) of the
Scheme. Initially this will be done through selection by the Scheme Manager
but, following appointment, it is a member’s individual responsibility to ensure
they attend sufficient training to enable them to continue to fulfil the experience
and capacity requirements. Full training will be provided and all reasonable
costs will be met by Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service. To ensure compliance
with the above a general level of attendance at meetings and training events is
required.
8

Substitution

8.1 Substitutes are permitted and sufficient substitutes will be appointed to ensure
that the representation described in 7.2 can be maintained whenever a
substitution is required.
8.2 In recognition of the requirements relating to relevant knowledge and capacity,
substitutes must be subject to the same appointment process as Board
members detailed in 7.2 and the relevant knowledge and capacity requirements
as set out at 7.7. Each substitute will be appointed for a four year term (or, in
the case of elected members for the remainder of their current term of office)
and there is no limit on the number of times the substitute can seek to be
reappointed.
8.3 Reimbursement of reasonable travel expenses for attendance at meetings and
training sessions will be in line with the County Council’s agreed policies and
rates for elected members. All such costs will be met directly by the Cumbria
Fire and Rescue Service.

70

Appendix 4

Part 2Q: Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board
1

Summary

1.1

The Cumbria Fire Local Pensions Board is responsible for assisting the
Administering Authority of the Cumbria Local Government Scheme to comply
with all relevant legislative requirements and to ensure the effective
governance of the scheme for Cumbria Firefighters Pensions.

2

Functions of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board

2.1 The functions of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board are to:
(a) Assist the Scheme Manager of the Cumbria Firefighters’ Pension Scheme
to secure compliance with:
(i)
The regulations covering
Firefighters’ Pension Schemes (FPS);
(ii)
Other legislation relation
administration of the FPS; and

administration

to

the

of

the

governance

and

(iii)
The requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in
relation to the FPS.
(iv)
Ensure the effective and efficient governance and
administration of the FPS.
2.2 The Board must have a policy and framework to meet the knowledge and
understanding requirements of section 248A of the Pensions Act 2004.
2.3 In its role in assisting the Scheme Manager as described above, the Board shall
report twice yearly to Council on matters reviewed and suggestions for their
consideration.
2.4 Where the Board is concerned that due consideration has not been given to
matters of non-compliance the Board may submit a report for consideration by
the Audit and Assurance Committee as the body designated by the Scheme
Manager with the capacity to investigate such matters on its behalf.
2.5 The Board is constituted under the Public Service Pension Act 2013 and the
Fire Pension Scheme (Amendment) (Governance) Regulations 2014 and is

71

therefore not subject to the requirements of s.101 of the Local Government Act
1972.
2.6 The Board has no remit as a decision making body but is established to assist
the Scheme Manager fulfil its functions which shall be deemed to cover all
aspects of governance and administration of the Pension Scheme.

3 Operating Structure and Codes of Conduct of the Cumbria Fire
Local Pension Board
3.1 The operating structure and codes of conduct of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension
Board is as follows:
a) The Board will be quorate if 50% of designated members (i.e. 2) are in
attendance.
b) Prior to appointment to the Board all members will be required to sign
up to the Board’s Code of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest Policy. As a
body representing the public interest the Code of Conduct and Conflicts of
Interest Policy of members of the Fire Local Pension Board will be aligned
to those applicable to members of the Pension Committee.
c) The Board will meet as a minimum twice a year. Meetings will be held
during normal working hours and will predominantly be held within County
boundaries.
d) Where required, a minimum of two Board members (one from the
scheme member representatives and one from the scheme employer
representatives) or the Scheme Manager can request a special meeting
be convened. Notice of ten working days must be given.
e) As a non-decision-making body the Board have no authority to
establish working parties / sub-groups.
f) Each member shall have an equal vote and, should it be required, the
Chair will have the casting vote.

4

Commissioning of Service providers and Advisors

4.1 All members of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board have the right to access
the support of independent advisors, however due regard has to be taken of
securing value for money and as such whether in the first instance officers of
the County Council could provide the assistance required.

72

4.2 Items of expenditure by the Board must have prior approval from the Section 151
Officer.

5

Role of Officers
Reasonable secretarial and professional support will be provided by Officers of
the Scheme Manager. Costs associated with this will be charged to Cumbria
Fire and Rescue Service.

6

Publication and Data Protection

6.1 As a general principle meetings will be open to the public.
6.2 Paper or electronic versions (as requested) of all agendas and papers will be
provided to all members of the Board prior to a meeting. The Chair can accept
that items be tabled on the day should such a need arise.
6.3 As a matter of policy the Pension Board has adopted the principals of paperless
working, therefore as a matter of course public access to all agendas, public
papers and minutes etc. will be available on the Council’s website. On request
alternative media versions are available.
6.4 The County Council as the Scheme Manager is the registered data controller of
the Cumbria FPS, and as such all policies and practices in this regard
applicable within the County Council are directly applicable to the Board.

7

Membership

7.1 Equal representation between scheme employers and scheme members is
required. The membership of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board will
comprise two scheme member representatives and two scheme employer
representatives. Substitutes are not permitted.
7.2 Appointment of Board members - to ensure an open and transparent
selection process and to ensure the Scheme Manager meets its obligation to
ensure appointed members have the relevant understanding and capacity, the
selection process will be through application, matching to a role profile and
interview. The Appointment Panel will consist of the Section 151 Officer,
Monitoring Officer and Portfolio Holder for Finance.

73

7.3 Appointments will be for four years and there will be no limit on the number of
times a member of the board can seek to be reappointed.
7.4 The two scheme member representatives will be selected to ensure all
membership groups within the Fund are covered.

7.5 Appointment of the Chair / Vice Chair – the Scheme Manager will appoint the
Chair and the Vice Chair. The roles will be split with one being a scheme
representative member rep and one being a scheme representative employer
rep and this will be alternated on a two yearly cycle.
7.6 Reimbursement of reasonable expenses for attendance at meetings and training
sessions will be in line with the Council’s agreed policies and rates for Elected
Members. All such costs will be met directly by Cumbria Fire and Rescue
Service.
7.7 Relevant knowledge and Capacity – the Scheme Manager must ensure that
each person appointed to the Board has the relevant knowledge and the
capacity to represent the employers or members (as appropriate) of the
Scheme. Initially this will be done through selection by the Scheme Manager
but, following appointment, it is a member’s individual responsibility to ensure
they attend all training etc. to enable them to continue to fulfil the experience
and capacity requirements. Full training will be provided and all reasonable
costs will be met by Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service. To ensure compliance
with the above a general level of attendance at meetings and training events is
required.

74

Appendix 5

Part 6B: Officers’ Code of Conduct
1

Introduction

1.1

The Public is entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from all
Council employees (‘officers’). The role of officers is to serve the Council in
delivering services to the community, providing advice and implementing its
policies. Where it is part of your duties, you are expected to provide
appropriate advice to Councillors (‘members’) and fellow officers with total
impartiality. In performing their duties each officer must comply with this
Code of Conduct.

1.2

This Code applies to all Council employees both in their substantive posts
and when representing the Council on external boards, committees, etc. It
also applies to staff in schools where the Code has been adopted by the
Governing Body as the employer. Schools should consider whether
amendments are required prior to adoption, for example where they do not
have access to online reporting tools.

1.3

This Code sets out the minimum standards that apply to officers. It may be
supplemented and clarified by Directorate guidance as appropriate.

1.4

Employees should note that any breaches of this Code may lead to action
under the Council’s HR Policies and Procedures. In addition, breach of
certain elements of the Code can constitute a criminal offence, which may
be referred to the Police.

1.5

This Code supplements, and does not replace any code or recognised
standards of conduct endorsed by any professional body of which an officer
is a member.

1.6

If officers have any queries or are uncertain about its content, they should
contact their immediate supervisor for advice.

2

Standards

2.1

The Council expects that all officers will demonstrate the following key
behaviours in every aspect of performing their duties:
Selflessness
You must take decisions based solely on the public interest. You must not
allow your private interests to conflict with your professional responsibilities.

75

Integrity
You must not place yourself under any obligation to people or organisations
that may, or may appear to, inappropriately influence your work.
You must not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material
benefits for yourself, your family, or your friends.
You must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.
Objectivity
You must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using the best
evidence and without discrimination or bias.
Accountability
You are accountable to the Council, which is in turn answerable to the public,
for your decisions and actions and you must submit yourself to the scrutiny
necessary to ensure this.
Openness
You must act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner.
Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and
lawful reasons for doing so.
Honesty
You must be truthful at all times.
Duty
You must uphold the law and act in accordance with the Council’s
Constitution and the public trust placed in you. You have a duty to act in the
interests of the Council as a whole and all communities served by the Council.
Respect
You must respect all other officers, members, partners and the public. You
must not act in a disrespectful way towards any individual because of a
protected characteristic or for any other reason.
Leadership
You must exhibit the above principles in your own behaviour. You must
actively promote and robustly support these principles and be willing to
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

3

Expected Behaviours

3.1

Officers are expected to display the following behaviours:
(a)
(b)

Communicate in a clear and constructive way.
Act with honesty and respect for others.

76

3.2

(c)
Demonstrate a positive flexible attitude.
(d)
Take responsibility for our actions.
(e)
Be committed to ‘One Team’.
These are the agreed employee behaviours that have been developed
through a process of staff engagement and are used across the council to
promote positive behaviours amongst staff.

4

Political Neutrality

4.1

You serve the Council as a whole and must therefore serve all members
equally and ensure that the individual rights of members are respected.

4.2

Where you are required to advise political groups you must do so in ways
which do not compromise your political neutrality. All officers, whether
holding politically restricted posts or not, must not allow their own personal
or political opinions to interfere with their work.

5

Key Stakeholders
Members

5.1

Officers and members are both indispensable elements of ensuring the
Council functions effectively and that services are provided to residents.

5.2

Mutual respect between officers and members is essential to good local
government and working relationships should always be kept on a
professional basis. You should avoid close personal familiarity with
individual members as this could prove embarrassing to other officers and
members.
The Local Community

5.3

You should always remember your responsibilities to the community you
serve, and ensure courteous, efficient, and impartial service delivery to all
groups and individuals within that community as defined by the policies of
the Council. You should deal with the public, members and other officers
sympathetically, efficiently and without bias.

6

Equality

6.1

All members of the local community, members and other officers of the
Council have a right to be treated with fairness, respect and equity. This
right is set out in the Equality Act 2010. You must ensure you meet this

77

expectation and ensure that all policies relating to equality issues as agreed
by the Council are complied with.
6.2

In addition to the above, to comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty, the
Council has developed a set of Equality Objectives which all officers must
strive to achieve. The Council’s Equality Objectives are to:
(a)
(b)
(c)

Provide equality of opportunity through access to services for all and
delivering services which meet the needs of our customers;
foster good relations by understanding the communities we serve and
create meaningful engagement and
eliminate discrimination through the review of our operational and
work place policies and procedures.

6.3

The Council also recognises that all individuals have fundamental human
rights and therefore adopts a rights based approach to equality. Under the
Human Rights Act 1998 you have an obligation to ensure that service
decisions taken are made with reference to a person’s basic human rights
such as the right to privacy and family life, the right to a fair hearing and the
right not to suffer degrading treatment.

7

Disclosure of Information

7.1

Openness in decision making within the Council should be the norm.
However, the Council accepts that some information should not be disclosed
and officers must respect the confidentiality of the information they work
with.

7.2

If you are in any doubt as to whether you can release any particular
information to a colleague or third party, you should assume that it is
confidential and discuss the matter with your line manager before releasing
the information. Guidance on disclosure of information to members is
available in the Member/Officer Protocol.

7.3

You must not use any confidential information obtained in the course of your
work for personal gain or benefit; nor should you pass it on to others who
might use it in such a way.

7.4

You must comply with all current legislation, such as the Data Protection Act
and Freedom of Information Act regarding the disclosure of information.

78

8

Officer Interests
Outside Commitments

8.1

You must not allow official duties and private interests to conflict. Officers
must not take up any outside employment or appointment which conflicts
with the Council’s interests.

8.2

Officers must not engage in any other business or take up any additional
appointments without the agreement of their manager. The Council will not
unreasonably stop you from taking additional employment, but such
employment must not, in the view of the Council, conflict with the Council’s
interest or bring the Council into disrepute.

8.3

Further guidance on the Council’s process for outside commitments can be
found in the Outside Commitments Guidance found at [hyperlink].
Personal Interests

8.4

You must discuss with your manager and declare via the Council’s online
reporting tool any financial or non-financial interests which could bring about
conflict with the Council’s interests.

8.5

You must make a formal declaration about contracts with the Council in which
you have a pecuniary or financial interest. Such declarations should be
discussed with your line manager and submitted using the Council’s online
reporting tool.

8.6

You must not make official professional decisions about matters in which you
have a personal involvement. You must not misuse your official position or
information acquired in the course of your employment to further your private
interests, or the interests of others.
Gifts

8.7

A potential source of conflict between private and public interests is the offer
of gifts, hospitality, or benefits in kind to officers in connection with their
official duties.

8.8

With the exceptions listed below, you must refuse any personal gift offered
to you, or to any family member, by any person or organisation who has
dealings with the Council. Any such offer must also be reported via the
Council’s online reporting tool. In the event of receiving a gift, legacy, or
bequest in circumstances where services have been provided by the Council
or from a Councillor, you must report this via the Council’s online reporting
tool and seek consent to retain the gift. If you try to influence or put pressure

79

on a service user to leave you a bequest in their will this will result in
disciplinary proceedings and may be regarded as gross misconduct.
8.9

When a gift has to be refused, this should be done with tact and courtesy,
because the offering of gifts is common practice in the commercial world,
particularly at Christmas time. If the gift is simply delivered to your at your
place of work, there may be a problem returning it, in which case it should be
reported via the Council’s online reporting tool and either donated to charity
or retained by the Council in its official capacity, where for example the gift is
from a foreign dignitary.
Exceptions

8.10

Gifts of a promotional nature through attendance at relevant conferences or
on the conclusion of any courtesy visit to a factory or firm of a sort normally
given by that firm and where it is clear that the gift is corporate rather than
personal.

8.11

Gifts of a token value, often given at Christmas time, such as diaries,
calendars, pens etc. (in general, any isolated gift of up to £20 in value).
Hospitality

8.12

You should only accept offers of hospitality if there is a genuine need to
impart information or represent the Council in the community. In such cases
these must be reported via the Council’s online reporting tool and
authorisation to attend the event must be obtained in advance.

8.13

Where hospitality is offered you should be particularly sensitive as to its
timing in relation to decisions which the Council may be taking that may
affect those providing the hospitality. It is important to avoid any suggestion
of improper influence. As a result, all gifts and hospitality, irrespective of
value, must be refused where the relevant organisation is bidding for work
from the Council or is involved in a planning application, dispute or other
negotiations with the Council.

8.14

All offers of hospitality, whether accepted or not, must be reported via the
Council’s online reporting tool where the estimated value exceeds £20.
Sponsorship

8.15

Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor a Council activity, whether
by invitation, tender, negotiation, or voluntarily, the basic position concerning
acceptance of gifts or hospitality, set out at paragraphs 7.8 and 7.12 above,
apply. Particular care must be taken when dealing with contractors or
potential contractors.

80

8.16

Where the Council wishes to sponsor an event or service, neither an officer
nor any partner, spouse, or relative, must benefit from such sponsorship in a
direct way without there being full disclosure to an appropriate manager of
any such interest.

8.17

Similarly, where the Council, through sponsorship, grant-aid, financial or
other means, gives support in the community, officers should ensure that
impartial advice is given, and that there is no conflict of interest involved.
Further Guidance

8.18

Further guidance on the Council’s approach to gifts and hospitality can be
found in the Gifts and Hospitality Guidance found at [hyperlink].

9

Appointments

9.1

Officers involved in appointments of contractors, staff or other appointments
must ensure that these are made solely on merit.

9.2

In order to avoid any possible accusation of bias, you must not be involved in
any appointment, or any other decisions for any officer, prospective officer or
third party where you are related or have a close personal relationship
outside work.

10

Tendering & Contracts

10.1

Officers involved in the tendering process and dealing with contractors must
be clear on the separation of client and contractor roles within the Council.

10.2

You must have regard to the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules set out in
Part 5H of the Constitution.

10.3

Officers contemplating a management buyout must, as soon as they have
formed a definite intent, inform the appropriate manager and withdraw from
any relevant contact awarding process.

11

Finance

11.1

You must ensure that you use public funds in a responsible and lawful
manner. Whenever spending Council funds, you must strive to achieve best
value for the local community, and wider public purse.

81

11.2

All officers have an important role in relation to protection against fraud,
bribery, corruption and tax evasion. You should report to your line manager or
supervisor any concerns you may have associated with the Council’s
finances, resources and responsibilities.

11.3

The Council’s Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy and Whistleblowing
Policy are set out in Parts 6D and 6E of this Constitution. You should be
aware of these policies and associated guidance and ensure that you
comply with them.

82

Appendix 6

Part 6B: Officers’ Code of Conduct
1

Introduction

1.1 The Nolan Committee identified seven principles which apply to all aspects of
public life, and therefore to all County Council employees (‘officers’). These
general principles are:
Selflessness
Holders of public office should take decisions solely in terms of the public
interest.
Integrity
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation
to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in
their work.
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other
material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends.
They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.
Objectivity
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on
merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.
Accountability
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and
actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.
Openness
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and
transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public
unless there are clear and lawful reasons for doing so.
Honesty
Holders of public office should be truthful.
Leadership
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own
behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the principles
and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.
This Officers’ Code of Conduct (‘Code’) incorporates these principles.

83

1.2 The public is entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from all
officers. An officer’s role is to serve the County Council in delivering
services to the people of Cumbria, providing advice and implementing its
policies. In performing their duties, officers must act with integrity, honesty,
impartiality and objectivity.
1.3 Officers work for the County Council and serve the whole of the Council; they
are accountable to, and owe a duty to the County Council. Officers must
act in accordance with the principles set out in this Code, and recognise the
duty of all public sector officers to discharge public functions reasonably and
according to the law.
1.4 This Code applies to all Council employees. It also applies to staff in schools
where the Code has been adopted by the Governing Body as the employer.
1.5 Certain elements of the Code deal with matters which can constitute a criminal
offence, an example being the section on corruption. Not complying with
this, and certain other aspects of the Code, could amount to a disciplinary
offence which could result in disciplinary action. Officers should read this
Code carefully and, if they have any queries or are uncertain about its
content, they contact their immediate supervisor for advice.
1.6 This Code supplements, and does not replace any code or recognised
standards of conduct endorsed by any professional body of which an officer
is a member.

2

The Code
Standards

2.1 All officers of the County Council are expected to give the highest possible
standard of service to the people of Cumbria and, where it is part of your
duties, to provide appropriate advice to Councillors (‘members’) and fellow
officers with total impartiality.
2.2 The aim of this Code is to lay down guidelines for you that will help maintain
and improve standards and protect you from misunderstanding or from
criticism.
2.3

Officers are expected to display the following behaviours:

(a)
(b)
(c)

Communicate in a clear and constructive way.
Act with honesty and respect for others.
Demonstrate a positive flexible attitude. (d)
Take responsibility for our
actions.
(e)
Be committed to ‘One Team’.

84

2.4 These are the agreed employee behaviours that have been developed through
a process of staff engagement and are used across the council to promote
positive behaviours amongst staff.
2.5 All officers have an important role in relation to protection against fraud and
corruption and you should report to your manager or supervisor any concerns
you may have associated with the council’s finances, resources and
responsibilities.
2.6 The Council’s Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy and Employee Whistle
Blowing Policy are set out in Parts 6D and 6E of this Constitution. The
County Council will ensure that all officers making such reports in good faith
will be protected from victimisation.
2.7 You should at all times try to avoid any occasion for suspicion and any improper
conduct which would bring the reputation of the County Council into
disrepute.

Disclosure of Information
2.6 The law requires that certain types of information must be available to
members, auditors, Government Departments, service users, and the public.
If you are in any doubt as to whether you can release any particular
information, you should assume that it is confidential and seek permission
before releasing it.
2.7 You must not use any confidential information obtained in the course of your
work for personal gain or benefit; nor should you pass it on to others who
might use it in such a way.
2.8 You must not communicate confidential information or documents to others who
do not have a legitimate right to know. You must follow the provisions of the
Data Protection Act regarding the disclosure of information and this
continues to apply after you leave the employment of the County Council.
2.9 You must not pass on any personal information relating to a member without
the prior approval of that member unless legally you are required to disclose
it (for example in litigation)

Political Neutrality
2.10 You serve the County Council as a whole and must serve all members equally
and ensure that the individual rights of members are respected.
2.11 Where you are required to advise political groups you must do so in ways
which do not compromise your political neutrality. All officers, whether
holding politically restricted posts or not, must not allow their own personal
or political opinions to interfere with their work.

85

Relationships
Members
2.12 Mutual respect between officers and members is essential to good local
government and working relationships should always be kept on a
professional basis. You should avoid close personal familiarity with
individual members as this could prove embarrassing to other officers and
members.
The Local Community
2.13 You should always remember your responsibilities to the community you
serve, and ensure courteous, efficient, and impartial service delivery to all
groups and individuals within that community as defined by the policies of
the County Council. You should deal with the public, members and other
officers sympathetically, efficiently and without bias.
Contractors and Suppliers
2.14 All relationships of a business or personal nature with external contractors,
potential contractors or suppliers must be declared to the appropriate
manager. Orders and contracts must be awarded on merit, by fair
competition and in accordance with the Contracts Procedure Rules and no
special favour should be shown to businesses run by, for example, friends,
partners or relatives.

Recruitment and Other Employment Matters
2.15 Officers involved in appointments should ensure that these are made on merit.
2.16 In order to avoid any possible accusation of bias, you must not be involved in
any appointment, or any other decisions relating to discipline, promotion or
pay and conditions for any officer or prospective officer where you are
related or have a close personal relationship outside work.

Outside Commitments
2.17 You should not allow official duties and private interests to conflict. No officer
should take up any outside employment or appointment which conflicts with
the County Council’s interests.
2.18 Officers paid above Grade 9 must not engage in any other business or take up
any additional appointments without the agreement of their manager. The
County Council will not unreasonably stop you from taking additional
employment, but such employment must not, in the view of the County
Council, conflict with the Council’s interest or bring the Council into
disrepute.

86

Personal Interests
2.19 You must declare to your Corporate Director any financial or non-financial
interests which you consider could bring about conflict with the County
Council’s interests.
2.20 You must make a formal declaration about contracts with the County Council in
which you have a pecuniary or financial interest. Such declarations should
be sent to the Assistant Director - Corporate Governance. It is a criminal
offence to fail to comply with the provision.
2.21 You must not make official professional decisions about matters in which you
have a personal involvement. You must not misuse your official position or
information acquired in the course of your employment to further your private
interests, or the interests of others.
Equality
2.22 All members of the local community and other officers of the County Council
have a right to be treated with fairness and equity. You should ensure that
all policies relating to equality issues as agreed by the County Council are
complied with. Tendering Procedures
2.23 Officers involved in the tendering process and dealing with contractors should
be clear on the separation of client and contractor roles within the County
Council.
2.24 Officers in commissioning, procurement, contract management roles, or in
client units, must exercise fairness and impartiality when dealing with all
customers, suppliers, other contractors, and sub-contractors.
2.25 Officers who are privy to confidential information on tenders, or costs relating
to either internal or external contractors, should not disclose that information
to any unauthorised party or organisation.
2.26 Officers contemplating a management buyout should, as soon as they have
formed a definite intent, inform the appropriate manager and withdraw from
the contact awarding process.
Corruption
2.27 You must be aware that it is a serious criminal offence for you corruptly to
receive or give any gift [insert hyperlink to ‘gifts’ section below], loan, fee,
reward, or advantage for doing, or not doing, anything or showing favour, or
disfavour, to any person in your official capacity. Allegations of this nature
will be investigated and dealt with in accordance with the County Council’s
disciplinary procedure.

87

Financial Standing Orders
2.28 All employees involved in financial activities and transactions on behalf of the
County Council, including budget management, payment of accounts,
payment of salaries and wages, petty cash, and orders for works, goods, or
services, must follow the Part 5G ‘Financial Standing Orders’ in this
Constitution, as approved by the Council.
2.29 You must ensure that you use public funds in a responsible and lawful
manner. You should strive to ensure value for money to the local community,
and to avoid legal challenge to the County Council.
Gifts
2.30 A potential source of conflict between private and public interests is the offer
of gifts, hospitality, or benefits in kind to officers in connection with their
official duties.
2.31 With the exceptions listed below, you should refuse any personal gift offered
to you, or to any family member, by any person or organisation who has
dealings with the County Council. Any such offer should be reported to the
appropriate senior manager. In the event of receiving a gift, legacy, or
bequest in circumstances where services have been provided by the County
Council, you should inform your senior manager and seek advice. If you try
to influence or put pressure on a client to leave you a bequest in their will
this will be regarded as serious misconduct.
2.32 When a gift has to be refused, this should be done with tact and courtesy,
because the offering of gifts is common practice in the commercial world,
particularly at Christmas time. If the gift is simply delivered to your at your
place of work, there may be a problem returning it, in which case it should be
reported to the appropriate senior manager and the agreed course of action
should be clearly documented.
Exceptions
2.33 Gifts of a promotional nature through attendance at relevant conferences or on
the conclusion of any courtesy visit to a factory or firm of a sort normally given
by that firm and where it is clear that the gift is corporate rather than personal.
2.34 Gifts of a token value, often given at Christmas time, such as diaries, calendars,
pens etc. (in general, any isolated gift of up to £10 in value).
Hospitality
2.35 You should only accept offers of hospitality if there is a genuine need to impart
information or represent the County Council in the community.
Offers to
attend purely social or sporting functions should be accepted only when
these are part of the life of the community and where the County Council

88

should be seen to be represented. In such cases they should be authorised
by a senior manager and recorded.
2.36 Where hospitality is offered you should be particularly sensitive as to its timing
in relation to decisions which the County Council may be taking that may
affect those providing the hospitality. It is important to avoid any suggestion
of improper influence and you should speak to senior managers
to decide whether a gift or an offer of hospitality should be accepted or
tactfully rejected.
2.37 In general terms, it will often be more acceptable to join in hospitality offered to
a group than to accept something unique to yourself. There may be times
when an offer of hospitality should be rejected, when normally it would be
regarded as acceptable. An example would be if the body or person offering
the hospitality is in a contract dispute with the county council.
2.38 All offers of hospitality, whether accepted or not, should be reported to the
senior manager concerned, who shall keep a record of such offers and the
decision taken on acceptance or refusal.
Sponsorship
2.39 Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor a County Council activity,
whether by invitation, tender, negotiation, or voluntarily, the basic
conventions concerning acceptance of gifts or hospitality apply. Particular
care must be taken when dealing with contractors or potential contractors.

2.40 Where the County Council wishes to sponsor an event or service, neither an
officer nor any partner, spouse, or relative, must benefit from such
sponsorship in a direct way without there being full disclosure to an
appropriate manager of any such interest.
2.41 Similarly, where the County Council, through sponsorship, grant-aid, financial
or other means, gives support in the community, officers should ensure that
impartial advice is given, and that there is no conflict of interest involved.

89

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 7

Part 6D: Anti-Fraud, Bribery and
Corruption Policy
1. Introduction
1.1 This policy supersedes the previous Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption
Policy. The new Anti-Fraud, Bribery & Corruption Policy incorporates the
Council’s approach to the following:





Fraud
Bribery and corruption
Money laundering
Tax evasion
Cumbria County Council takes its responsibility for safeguarding public
monies seriously and has a zero tolerance approach to fraud; bribery and
corruption; money laundering; and tax evasion.. Fraud and corruption
reduce the resources available to deliver Council services to those people
who depend on us and this is particularly important in the current climate of
reduced funding in local government. Failure to put in place effective
measures to counteract financial irregularities may also damage the
Council’s reputation.

1.2 The people of Cumbria are entitled to expect the Council to operate with
integrity, honesty and openness. They rightly expect the highest standards
from all those connected with the Council in any official capacity. The
Council is therefore committed to combating fraud and taking action against
anyone who does attempt to commit fraud against it.
1.3 The Council also has statutory obligations regarding these areas, for
example, it may be held liable for an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 if it
fails to prevent a person (who could be an officer, elected Member, or any
contractor or sub-contractor who provides services on the Council’s behalf)
from committing bribery.
1.4 Having and adhering to adequate procedures to prevent bribery provides the
Council with a defence against liability under the Bribery Act 2010.
1.5 The Council is also committed to ensuring we have effective arrangements
to prevent, detect and report suspected money laundering activities in line
with the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 and the Money Laundering, Terrorist
Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payer) Regulations
2017. The council’s policy is to ensure that all appropriate action is taken to
prevent the council and its staff being exposed to money laundering, and
that actual or suspected incidences of money laundering are reported in line
with the requirements of the Money Laundering regulations.

91

1.6 Finally as an employer, if we fail to prevent our employees, workers, agents
or service providers facilitating tax evasion, we can face criminal sanctions
including an unlimited fine, as well as damage to our reputation. We
therefore take our legal responsibilities seriously and will uphold all laws
relevant to countering tax evasion, including the Criminal Finances Act 2017.
2. Definitions
2.1 For the purposes of this policy, Financial irregularity means fraud, bribery,
corruption, money laundering, tax evasion or facilitating tax evasion.
Fraud
2.2 Fraud is defined within the 2006 Fraud Act which sets out three categories of
fraud:
a. False representation – where a person makes a false
representation in order to cause a gain for themselves or a loss
to another person
b. Failure to disclose information – where there is a legal duty to do
so
c. Abuse of position – where a person abuses the position they
hold to cause a gain to themselves or a loss to another person.
2.3

Crucially, under the Fraud Act, the gain or loss does not have to have
materialised for fraud to have been committed; it is the action and intent that
creates the offence of a fraud.

Bribery
2.4

Bribery means offering or giving someone a financial or other advantage to
encourage them to perform their functions or activities improperly, or
rewarding someone for having already done so. This includes:
a. Offering or giving a bribe to another person;
b. Receiving or agreeing to receive a bribe from another person;
c. Facilitation payments (unlawful payments demanded by officials
to perform or expedite the performance of their normal duties).

2.5

The Council commits an offence if a person associated with it bribes another
person for the Council’s benefit. An “associated person” includes officers,
elected Members, service providers and other partners.

2.6

Officers and elected Members involved in planning and procurement should
be especially aware of the possibility that they may be targeted for attempted
bribery.

Corruption

92

2.7

Corruption is the offering, giving, soliciting or acceptance of an inducement
or reward which may influence any person to act inappropriately.

Money laundering
2.8

Money laundering is the process by which criminally obtained money or
other criminal property are exchanged for “clean” money or other assets with
no obvious link to their criminal origins.

2.9

The formal definition of money laundering is set out in the Proceeds of Crime
Act 2002 as:
a. The process by which the proceeds of crime are; concealed,
disguised, converted, transferred or removed from England,
Wales, Scotland or Northern Ireland.
b. Being involved in an arrangement which a person knows or
suspects facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of
criminal property.
c. Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property.

2.10

There are also secondary offences of:
a. Failure to disclose money laundering offences.
b. Tipping off a suspect, either directly or indirectly.
c Prejudicing an investigation.

Tax evasion
2.11

Tax evasion means the offence of cheating the public revenue or
fraudulently evading UK tax, and is a criminal offence. The offence requires
deliberate action, or omission with dishonest intent. For the purposes of this
policy tax evasion includes foreign tax evasion;

2.12

Tax evasion facilitation means being knowingly concerned in, or taking steps
with a view to, the fraudulent evasion of tax (whether UK tax or tax in a
foreign country) by another person, or aiding, abetting, counselling or
procuring the commission of that offence. Tax evasion facilitation is a
criminal offence, where it is done deliberately and dishonestly.

3. Policy Statement
3.1

The aim of this policy is to make clear to all employees (including permanent,
temporary and agency staff), elected Members, contractors, consultants,
other bodies and the public, the Council’s approach to financial irregularities.

3.2

The Council is committed to the prevention, deterrence and detection of fraud
and other financial irregularities and has a zero tolerance approach. Robust

93

arrangements are in place to deal with any financial irregularities committed
against the council including both disciplinary and criminal proceedings where
appropriate.
3.3

The Council’s policy aims to ensure that all appropriate action is taken to
prevent the Council and its members and officers being exposed to bribery
and sets out what officers and members are expected to do if they suspect
bribery.

3.4

The Council opposes all corruption and will support its employees at all times
in acting ethically.

4. Scope of the Policy
4.1

The policy applies to elected Members and all officers of the Council. The
term ‘officers’ includes all staff working for the Council whether full-time or
part-time, paid or voluntary, temporary or casual and staff employed through
an agency.

4.2

Where Council services are delivered by other organisations, the Council is
still responsible for safeguarding the interests of service users and tax payers
and therefore expects the same high standards of conduct and behaviour
from all individuals working with and on behalf of the Council.

4.3

We commend this policy to our partner organisations and County Council
schools with the expectation that it is either adopted in full or used as a basis
for their local arrangements.

4.4

Where it is suspected that fraud has been committed against the Council by
staff from 3rd party organisations, we will, where appropriate, report the matter
to the employing organisation and will support them fully in dealing with the
issues under their respective organisational policies and procedures.

4.5

The Council will adhere to provisions in procurement law requiring the
exclusion of contractors convicted of active corruption.

4.6

The Council will also include clauses in tender documents and contracts
which permit exclusion of contractors, termination of contracts and recovery
of losses by the Council in the event of an act of corruption by a tenderer or
contractor (including sub-contractors).

5. Corporate culture and frameworks
5.1

The Council is committed to creating an environment where the risk of
financial irregularities is minimised. Responsibility for an antifraud culture is
the joint duty of all those involved in giving political direction, determining
policy and management. Elected Members and senior management are
committed to creating a culture that is resilient to the threats of financial
irregularities and which aligns to the standards of good governance.

94

5.2

Managers at all levels are required to acknowledge and identify the risks of
financial irregularities occurring within their service areas and implement
controls to mitigate these risks.

5.3

Senior management is expected to deal swiftly and firmly with those involved
in financial irregularities.

5.4

The council expects that elected Members and officers will lead by example
in ensuring adherence to all legal requirements, contract and financial
procedure rules, codes of conduct and best practice. There are a range of
interrelated policies and procedures that provide a corporate framework to
counter fraudulent activity. These have been formulated with regard to the
relevant legislative requirements and include:
• Codes of conduct for officers and members
• Code of Practice for Members and Officers involved in the
Planning Process
• Appointment of statutory officers
• Financial Standing Orders
• Contracts Procedure Rules
• Effective Recruitment & Selection Policy
• Discipline Procedure
• Whistleblowing policy & Speak Up
• Information Security policy
• Acceptable use policy

5.6

Line managers are responsible for ensuring that all their staff are aware of
and understand their responsibilities within this policy and for periodically
reminding staff of these.

6. Responsibilities in relation to financial irregularities
6.1

The Chief Executive, Corporate and Assistant Directors are responsible for
communicating the Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy to elected
Members and employees, and for promoting awareness of the commitment to
eliminating all forms of corruption.

6.2

The Chief Executive, Corporate and Assistant Directors are responsible for
ensuring that any risk of financial irregularities is identified, documented and
managed at the appropriate level in the Council. Managers are responsible
for ensuring there are appropriate controls within their systems to prevent
fraud.

6.3

All managers are responsible for ensuring that if they receive an allegation
under this policy, they:
a. deal with the matter promptly in line with this policy;
b. Record, preserve and secure all evidence received;
c. Implement the Council’s disciplinary procedures
appropriate.

95

where

6.4

Each officer and elected Member is responsible for their own conduct and for
performing their functions with honesty and integrity, in the public interest.

6.5

All staff are responsible for ensuring that they do not:
a. Engage in any form of financial irregularities;
b. Aid, abet, counsel, procure or commission any other person to
engage in any financial irregularities;
c. Engage in any other activity that may lead to a breach of this
policy; or
d. Threaten or retaliate against any person who raises concerns
under this policy

6.6

All employees and elected Members are required to be vigilant to the
possibility that financial irregularities may occur and have a responsibility to
report any suspicions through the arrangements described within this policy.
Where an employee or elected Member fails to report suspicions, they
themselves become implicated in the wrongdoing and the Council will treat
failure to report concerns as a serious matter which may in the case of a
person employed by the council, amount to a disciplinary matter and in the
case of elected Members, to a breach of the Code of Conduct.

6.7

The Council will seek to ensure that companies of which it is a
member/shareholder and major partnerships in which it participates or for
which it is accountable body have in place arrangements to prevent financial
irregularities in respect of their activities

6.8

The Council has established an Audit and Assurance Committee. Its terms of
reference are set out within the Constitution and include oversight of the
Council’s risk management activities and monitoring the Council’s anti-fraud,
bribery and corruption arrangements.

7. Prevention
7.1

The Council’s main aim is to prevent financial irregularities from occurring.
This is done through a combination of an effective ethical culture and
behaviours whereby wrongdoing is seen as unacceptable by everyone and
maintaining well-controlled systems that do not allow wrongdoing to succeed.

7.2

A key element in financial irregularity prevention is the regular checks
undertaken by managers to confirm that their financial irregularity controls
continue to work effectively. Internal audit can advise on appropriate controls
to mitigate risk but it is managers’ responsibility to ensure controls are
implemented and continue to work effectively.

7.3

A key stage in upholding the Council’s ethical culture is through recruitment of
appropriate staff. Managers are responsible for ensuring that all appropriate
checks are undertaken to establish, as far as possible, the honesty and
integrity of potential employees, whether for permanent, temporary or casual
posts, or agency staff. All recruitment must therefore be conducted in

96

accordance with the Council’s Recruitment & Selection policy and associated
procedures.
8. Gifts, Hospitality and Donations
8.1

Under the Bribery Act 2010, the provision of genuine hospitality is not an
offence, so businesses are, for example, able to offer appropriate gifts to
clients, take clients to dinner, and offer other hospitality if that is reasonable
and proportionate expenditure for their business.

8.2

Council officers and members may only receive gifts and hospitality in
accordance with the Council’s Member Code of Conduct and Officer Code of
Conduct.

9. Data Matching for the Purpose of Fraud Prevention
9.1

The council participates fully in the mandatory biennial National Fraud
Initiative (NFI) which is co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office. The National
Fraud Initiative (NFI) matches electronic data within and between public and
private sector bodies to prevent and detect fraud. These bodies include police
authorities, local probation boards, fire and rescue authorities as well as local
councils and a number of private sector bodies.. The Council is required to
review and investigate any potential fraud or irregularities identified by the
NFI.

9.2

The Council may also use internal data matching between its own systems
for the purposes of preventing and detecting fraud. Any such arrangements
will be in full compliance with relevant legislation covering information
governance.

10. Reporting concerns – see flowchart at Appendix 1
10.1 Any person who suspects that corruption financial irregularity may be taking
place must report their suspicions.
10.2 The report should be made to your line manager in the first instance, unless
there are reasons why you are unable to report to your line manager. In this
case, the report should be made to the next most senior manager in your
Directorate or to the S151 Officer (Director of Finance) or Monitoring Officer.
Managers receiving credible reports of suspected financial irregularities, and
officers who are unable to discuss their concerns with management within
their Directorate must contact the S151 Officer (Director of Finance), by
emailing the Financial Irregularities Reporting Form at Appendix 2 to
Fraudreport.Mailbox@cumbria.gov.uk, who will then liaise with the Head of
Internal Audit, the Monitoring Officer and/or the Head of People Management,
as appropriate, to discuss the best course of action. This may involve a
referral to Cumbria Police.

97

10.3 If you suspect that a financial irregularity has taken / is taking place you must
not attempt to investigate the matter yourself nor confront any person
suspected of being involved. You should note as much detail as possible to
allow the matter to be investigated, but you must not go looking for evidence
or take any action that may alert the individuals to your suspicions. You must
not attempt to find information by switching on the person’s computer as this
can seriously prejudice further investigation.
10.4 The Council has a Whistleblowing Policy & Speak Up statement which
enables individuals to make disclosures in the public interest where they feel
unable to report under other policies.
11. Investigation, sanctions and recovery of losses
11.1 Managers receiving referrals of suspected financial irregularity must report
their concerns in accordance with paragraph 10.2 above. Once reported
Internal Audit will be alerted and will contact the manager to discuss the most
appropriate arrangements for investigating. Any decision on how best to
investigate will be made by the S151 Officer after consultation with the
relevant service manager, Internal Audit and HR and/or Monitoring Officer, as
appropriate to the individual case. . Internal Audit will provide advice and
support to management in undertaking investigations and advise on
strengthening controls following any incidents.
11.2 It is the council’s policy that all suspected irregularities will be investigated
and where fraud, bribery, corruption, money laundering or tax evasion is
found to have been committed, action will be taken. Consideration will be
given in all cases to referral to the police where criminal activity is suspected.
Where a financial irregularity has been committed by a member of Council
staff, the disciplinary procedures will be invoked together with a referral to the
police as appropriate.
11.3 The council will pursue recovery action to recover misappropriated assets.
This may involve using the proceeds of crime act (POCA), as well as civil
sanctions including recovery from the individual’s pension contributions.
11.4 We will publicise actions taken against anyone found to have committed a
financial irregularity against the council as part of our strategy to reduce fraud
risk.
12. Review of this Policy
12.1 This Policy will be subject to annual review.
13

Counter Fraud Strategy

13.1 The implementation of the fraud element of the anti-financial irregularities
policy is set out in the Council’s counter fraud strategy. This aims to address
the following areas:-

98









13.2

Creating an anti-fraud culture
Prevention
Deterrence
Detection
Investigation
Sanction
Redress

The counter fraud strategy is informed by a periodic fraud risk assessment
which ensures that resources are targeted at the areas of highest risk.

99

Flowchart for reporting under the Counter-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy

Contact your
directorate HR
representative to
discuss how to
proceed with
management
Investigation under
relevant policy

Yes

Does the referral
relate to conduct
or behaviours
such as misuse of
flexi-time,
working whilst
off sick or other
discipline or
grievance issues?

Part 6D Appendix 1

Manager receives a
report of suspected
irregularity

100
No

No

Does referral relate to
suspected financial
irregularity under the
this policy?

yes

Complete the Financial
Irregularities Reporting form and
email it to the Director of Finance
at
Fraudreport.Mailbox@cumbria.gov
.uk

Appendix 2
COUNTER FRAUD – REFERRAL FORM
RESTRICTED INFORMATION
This form should be used to report suspected fraud, bribery, corruption, money
laundering or tax evasion.
Name
Email address
Phone number
Is the activity

About to happen

Happening

Already
happened

Date

Use the space below to describe your concerns in as much detail as possible.
Please ensure you cover who you suspect is involved, what you believe to be
happening, when and where it happened and, if known, how the activity is being
undertaken.
Please remember that you must not undertake independent investigations of
suspected financial irregularities.
Please email this form, and any additional evidence, to
Fraudreport.Mailbox@cumbria.gov.uk once completed.
The Council has produced guidance on reporting suspected financial irregularities
which is available here: [link]

101

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 8

Part 6D: Anti-Fraud, Bribery and
Corruption Policy
1. Introduction
1.1 Cumbria County Council takes its responsibility for safeguarding public
monies seriously and does not tolerate fraud, bribery, corruption or abuse of
position for personal gain in any area of Council activity. Fraud and
corruption reduce the resources available to deliver services to those people
who depend on us and undermine the Council’s reputation. This is
particularly important in the current climate of reduced funding in local
government.
1.2 The people of Cumbria are entitled to expect the Council to operate with
integrity, honesty and openness. They rightly expect the highest standards
from all those connected with the Council in any official capacity. The
Council is therefore committed to combating fraud and taking action against
anyone who does attempt to commit fraud against it.
1.3 In addition, the Council may be held liable for an offence under the Bribery Act
2010 if it fails to prevent a person (who could be a senior manager, other
officer, elected Member, or any contractor or sub-contractor who provides
services on the Council’s behalf) from committing bribery.
1.4 Having and adhering to adequate procedures to prevent bribery provides the
Council with a defence against liability under the Bribery Act 2010.
2. Definitions
2.1 Fraud is defined within the 2006 Fraud Act which sets out three categories of
fraud:
a. False representation – where a person makes a false
representation in order to cause a gain for themselves or a loss to
another person
b. Failure to disclose information – where there is a legal duty to do
so
c. Abuse of position – where a person abuses the position they
hold to cause a gain to themselves or a loss to another person.
2.2 Crucially, under the Fraud Act, the gain or loss does not have to have
materialised for fraud to have been committed; it is the action and intent that
creates the offence of a fraud.
2.3 Bribery means offering or giving someone a financial or other
advantage to encourage them to perform their functions or activities

103

improperly, or rewarding someone for having already done so. This
includes:
•
Offering or giving a bribe to another person;
•
Receiving or agreeing to receive a bribe from another person;
•
Facilitation payments (unlawful payments demanded by officials
to perform or expedite the performance of their normal duties).
2.4 The Council commits an offence if a person associated with it bribes
another person for the Council’s benefit. An “associated person” includes
officers, elected Members, service providers and other partners.
2.5 Officers and elected Members involved in planning and procurement
should be especially aware of the possibility that they may be targeted for
attempted bribery.
2.6

Corruption is defined by the Audit Commission as:
•
The offering, giving, soliciting or acceptance of an inducement or
reward which may influence any person to act inappropriately.

3. Policy Statement
3.1 The aim of this policy is to make clear to all employees (including permanent,
temporary and agency staff), elected Members, contractors, consultants,
other bodies and the public, Cumbria County Council’s approach to fraud,
bribery and corruption.
3.2 The Council is committed to the prevention, deterrence and detection of fraud
and has a zero tolerance approach. Robust arrangements are in place to
deal with any instances of fraud committed against the council including both
disciplinary and criminal proceedings where appropriate.
3.3 The Council’s policy aims to ensure that all appropriate action is taken to
prevent the Council and its members and officers being exposed to bribery
and sets out what officers and members are expected to do if they suspect
bribery.
3.4 The Council opposes all corruption and will support its employees at all times
in acting ethically.
4. Scope of the Policy
4.1 The policy applies to elected Members and all officers of the Council. The term
‘officers’ includes all staff working for the Council whether full-time or parttime, paid or voluntary, temporary or casual and staff employed through an
agency.
4.2 Where Council services are delivered by other organisations, the Council is still
responsible for safeguarding the interests of service users and tax payers and
therefore expects the same high standards of conduct and behaviour

104

from all individuals working with and on behalf of the Council. Where
appropriate, we will build clauses into our contracts covering actions that will
be taken in the event that fraud is identified.
4.3 We commend the policy to our partner organisations and County Council
schools with the expectation that it is either adopted in full or used as a basis
for their local arrangements.
4.4 Where it is suspected that fraud has been committed against the Council by
staff from 3rd party organisations, we will report the matter to the employing
organisation and will support them fully in dealing with the issues under their
respective organisational policies and procedures.
4.5 Contractors and sub-contractors acting on the Council’s behalf are responsible
through contractual arrangements put in in place during the tender process
and through contracts, for compliance with the Bribery Act 2010.
4.6 The Council will adhere to provisions in procurement law requiring the
exclusion of contractors convicted of active corruption.
4.7 The Council will also include clauses in tender documents and contracts which
permit exclusion of contractors, termination of contracts and recovery of
losses by the Council in the event of an act of corruption by a tenderer or
contractor (including sub-contractors).
5. Corporate culture and frameworks
5.1 Cumbria County Council is committed to creating an environment where the
risk of fraud, bribery and corruption is minimised. Responsibility for an
antifraud culture is the joint duty of all those involved in giving political
direction, determining policy and management. Elected Members and senior
management are committed to creating a culture that is resilient to the threats
of fraud and corruption and which aligns to the standards of good
governance.
5.2 Managers at all levels are required to acknowledge and identify the risks of
fraud occurring within their service areas and implement controls to mitigate
these fraud risks.
5.3 Senior management is expected to deal swiftly and firmly with those who
defraud the council. The Council will be robust in dealing with financial
irregularities.
5.4 The council expects that elected Members and officers will lead by example in
ensuring adherence to all legal requirements, contract and financial
procedure rules, codes of conduct and best practice.
There is a framework
of interrelated policies and procedures that provide a corporate framework to
counter fraudulent activity. These have been formulated with regard to the
relevant legislative requirements and include:
• Codes of conduct for officers and members
• The Council behaviours

105

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Appointment of statutory officers
Financial Standing Orders
Contracts Procedure Rules
Effective Recruitment & Selection Policy
Disciplinary Procedure
Whistleblowing policy
Information Security policy
Acceptable use policy

5.5 The Council also fully supports the seven Nolan principles that apply to anyone
who serves the public:
• Selflessness
• Integrity
• Objectivity
• Accountability
• Openness
• Honesty; and
• Leadership
5.6 As employees or elected Members of the Council, we all serve the
public and therefore must abide by these principles in every aspect of our
working lives.
5.7 Line managers are responsible for ensuring that all their staff are
aware of and understand their responsibilities within this policy and for
periodically reminding staff of these.
6. Responsibilities in relation to fraud, bribery and corruption
6.1 The Chief Executive, Corporate and Assistant Directors are responsible for
communicating the Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy to elected
Members and employees, and for promoting awareness of the commitment to
eliminating all forms of corruption.
6.2 The Chief Executive, Corporate and Assistant Directors are responsible for
ensuring that any risk of fraud, bribery and corruption is identified,
documented and managed at the appropriate level in the Council. Managers
are responsible for ensuring there are appropriate controls within their
systems to prevent fraud.
6.3 All managers are responsible for ensuring that if they receive an allegation
under this policy, they:
•
deal with the matter promptly in line with this policy;
•
Record, preserve and secure all evidence received;
•
Implement the Council’s disciplinary procedures
appropriate.

106

where

6.4 Each officer and elected Member is responsible for their own conduct
and for performing their functions with honesty and integrity, in the public
interest.
6.5 Officers are expected to follow and abide by the Council’s Code of
Conduct for Employees, in addition to any Code of Conduct of their
professional or trade body.
6.6

Members are expected to comply with the Member Code of Conduct.

6.7 Officers and elected Members involved in (town and country) planning
are expected to comply with the Code of Practice for Members and Officers
involved in the Planning Process.
6.8 All employees and elected Members are required to be vigilant to the
possibility that fraud may occur and have a responsibility to report any
suspicions of fraud, bribery and corruption through the arrangements
described within this policy. Where an employee fails to report suspicions,
they themselves become implicated in the wrongdoing and the Council will
treat failure to report concerns as a serious matter which may in the case of a
person employed by the council, amount to a disciplinary matter and in the
case of elected Members, to a breach of the Code of Conduct.
6.9 The Council will seek to ensure that companies of which it is a
member/shareholder and major partnerships in which it participates or for
which it is accountable body have in place arrangements to prevent fraud,
bribery and corruption in respect of their activities
6.10 The Council has established an Audit and Assurance Committee. Its
terms of reference are set out within the Constitution and include oversight of
the
Council’s risk management activities and monitoring the Council’s anti-fraud,
bribery and corruption arrangements.
6.11 The Standards Committee oversees the Members’ Code of Conduct.
7. Prevention
7.1 The Council’s main aim is to prevent fraud, bribery and corruption from
occurring. This is done through a combination of an effective ethical culture
and behaviours whereby wrongdoing is seen as unacceptable by everyone
and maintaining well-controlled systems that do not allow wrongdoing to
succeed.
7.2 A key element in fraud prevention is the regular checks undertaken by
managers to confirm that their anti-fraud, bribery and corruption controls
continue to work effectively. Internal audit can advise on appropriate controls
to mitigate risk but it is managers’ responsibility to ensure controls are
implemented and continue to work effectively.
7.3 A key stage in upholding the Council’s ethical culture is through recruitment of
appropriate staff. Managers are responsible for ensuring that all appropriate

107

checks are undertaken to establish, as far as possible, the honesty and
integrity of potential employees, whether for permanent, temporary or casual
posts, or agency staff. All recruitment must therefore be conducted in
accordance with the Council’s Recruitment & Selection policy and associated
procedures.
8.

Gifts, Hospitality and Donations

8.1 Under the Bribery Act 2010, the provision of genuine hospitality is not an
offence, so businesses are, for example, able to provide tickets to sporting
events, offer gifts to clients, take clients to dinner, and offer other hospitality if
that is reasonable and proportionate expenditure for their business.
8.2 Council officers and members may only receive gifts and hospitality in
accordance with the Council’s Member Code of Conduct and Officer Code of
Conduct.
9. Data Matching for the Purpose of Fraud Prevention
9.1 The council participates fully in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) which
data matching exercise co-ordinated by the Audit Commission for
purpose of identifying potential frauds against local authorities. It is
council’s policy that items flagged through the NFI will be investigated
action taken as appropriate in line with this policy.

is a
the
the
and

9.2 The Council may also use internal data matching between its own systems for
the purposes of preventing and detecting fraud. Any such arrangements will
be in full compliance with relevant legislation covering information
governance.
10. Reporting concerns
10.1 Any person who suspects that fraud, bribery or corruption may be taking
place must report their suspicions.
10.2 The report should be made to your line manager in the first instance, unless
there are reasons why you are unable to report to your line manager. In this
case, the report should be to the Group Audit Manager or your Senior
Manager / Assistant Director. The Council has a Whistleblowing Policy which
enables individuals to make disclosures in the public interest where they feel unable
to report under other policies.
10.3 Suspected frauds or irregularities may also be reported through the Council’s
fraud hotline number which is 0800 028 277.
10.4 Where any concerns should arise regarding the conduct of an elected
Member within the context of this policy, this should be reported to the
Monitoring Officer who will determine the appropriate approach to
investigating in discussion with the S151 Officer and Group Audit Manager.

108

10.5 If you suspect that a fraud has taken / is taking place you should not attempt
to investigate the matter yourself nor confront any person suspected of being
involved. You should note as much detail as possible to allow the matter to
be investigated, but you should not go looking for evidence or take any action
that may alert the individuals to your suspicions. You should not attempt to
find information by switching on the person’s computer as this can seriously
prejudice further investigation.
11. Investigation, sanctions and recovery of losses
11.1 Managers receiving referrals of suspected fraud must contact the Group Audit
Manager who will discuss the most appropriate arrangements for
investigating. Internal audit may advise that a management investigation
should be undertaken or may consider that internal audit involvement is
necessary depending on the circumstances.
11.2 It is the council’s policy that all suspected irregularities will be investigated
and where fraud, bribery or corruption is found to have been committed,
action will be taken. Consideration will be given in all cases to referral to the
police where criminal activity is suspected. Where fraud, bribery or corruption
has been committed by a member of Council staff, the disciplinary
procedures will be invoked together with a referral to the police as
appropriate.
11.3 The council will pursue recovery action to recover misappropriated assets.
This may involve using the proceeds of crime act (POCA), as well as civil
sanctions including recovery from the individual’s pension contributions.
11.4 We will publicise actions taken against anyone found to have committed fraud
against the council as part of our strategy to reduce fraud risk.
12. Review of this Policy
12.1 This Policy will be subject to review in line with the provisions for review of
ethical policies within the Constitution. It will be reviewed in addition should a
change of law require changes to be made.

109

Flowchart for reporting under the Counter-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy

Part 6D Appendix 1
Manager receives a
report of suspected
irregularity

Contact your
directorate HR
representative to
discuss how to
proceed with
management
Investigation
relevant policy
under

Yes

Does the referral
relate to conduct
or behaviours
such as misuse of
flexi-time,
working whilst
off sick or other
discipline or
grievance issues?

Officer

Is the report
about an officer
or an elected
Member?

Member Contact the Council’s
Monitoring Officer on
01228 227350

110
No

No

Does referral relate to
suspected fraud, bribery
or corruption under the
counter
-fraud, bribery and
corruption policy?

yes

Contact Group Audit Manager to
discusscounter
-fraud investigation on
01228 226261

Cumbria County Council - Anti Money Laundering Policy
1.

Introduction

1.1 Cumbria County Council is committed to ensuring we have effective
arrangements to prevent, detect and report suspected money laundering
activities in line with the legislation governing this area. The Proceeds of
Crime Act 2002 and the Money Laundering Regulations 2007 set out a
range of activities and offences covered under the definition of Money
Laundering.
They also set out the requirements for reporting of
suspected money laundering attempts and the penalties for failing to do
so.
1.2

Local authorities do not have a statutory obligation to comply with the
Money Laundering Regulations as they generally do not deliver ‘relevant
services’ under the terms of the Act1. However, Cumbria County Council
believes that it is right to take a firm stance against money laundering in
line with its responsibilities for the proper administration of public funds
and its duty to uphold high standards of ethics.

1.3 The council’s policy is to ensure that all appropriate action is taken to prevent
the council and its staff being exposed to money laundering including and
that actual or suspected incidences of money laundering are reported in
line with the requirements of the Money Laundering regulations.
2.

Scope of the Policy

2.1 This policy applies to all Members and staff of the Council including
temporary and agency staff. The policy is part of the council’s suite of
ethical policies designed to ensure that the highest standards of
governance and conduct are upheld.
3. What is Money Laundering?
3.1
In general terms, money laundering is the process by which
criminally obtained money or other criminal property are exchanged for
“clean” money or other assets with no obvious link to their criminal origins.
3.2
The formal definitions within the Money Laundering Amendment
Regulations 2012 are set out below:
3.3

Money Laundering is defined as:
a. The process by which the proceeds of crime are; concealed,
disguised, converted, transferred or removed from England, Wales,
Scotland or Northern Ireland.

1

There is an exception where Legal Services may provide professional services to external organisations.

111

b. Being involved in an arrangement which a person knows or
suspects facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of
criminal property.
c. Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property.
3.4

There are also secondary offences of:
d. Failure to disclose money laundering offences.
e. Tipping off a suspect, either directly or indirectly.
f. Prejudicing an investigation.

4.

Reporting concerns of Money Laundering

4.1 The Council’s Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) is Julie Crellin,
Assistant director, Finance (S151 Officer). You should report any
suspicions of money laundering to the MLRO. In the absence of the
MLRO, the deputy MLRO is the Group Audit Manager, Niki Riley.
4.2 If you suspect that money laundering has taken place, you should make a
referral to the MLRO. This should contain as much detail about the
transaction(s) as possible, including:
•
The nature of the transaction and the reasons for your suspicion
•
The value and date(s) of the transaction(s)
•
Names, addresses, dates of birth, company names of all those
involved
•
Any supporting documentation you may have
4.3 If you have suspicions about money laundering before a transaction has
taken place, you should contact the MLRO for advice before the
transaction is completed.
5.

Examples of situations most likely to give risk to suspicions of
Money Laundering
•
Transactions involving unusually high volumes of cash. This
would be of particular concern if the value of the payment exceeded
the amount due, including paying double. Money Laundering often
involves making an overpayment on a legitimate debt and then
requesting the overpayment refunded by cheque (a local authority
cheque being a legitimate source of funds for placing back into the
financial system).
•
A transaction or trade that makes no commercial or economic
sense on the part of the other party. Money Launderers’ main
objective is to get the money back into the financial system, not
necessarily to make

112

a profit. They may therefore be prepared to take a loss in order to
clean up the money.
•
Payments received from third parties. Money Launderers will
often make payments on behalf of a legitimate third party business in
order to clean criminal funds.
•
Transactions where the identity of the party is undisclosed or is
difficult to establish.
•
Transactions where the party is evasive about the source or the
destiny of funds.
•
Transactions with companies in offshore jurisdictions. Some
jurisdictions can provide money launderers with the opportunity to hide
their true identity.
•
Changes to payment instructions to the use of offshore funds.
Payments are usually made to or from a UK bank to establish a
business relationship and then changed to a bank in an offshore
jurisdiction.
•
6.

The cancellation or reversal of an earlier transaction.

Client Identification Procedure

6.1 This is required where the Council is carrying out relevant business under the
Regulations and the bullets below also apply.
•

An ongoing business relationship with a client;

•
A one-off transaction with a client involving a payment by or to a
client of an agreed amount or more;
•
A series of linked transactions with a client involving payments
to or from the client to an agreed amount or more;
•
There is a suspicion that a transaction or series of transactions
is linked to money laundering.
6.2 Where Council staff are conducting relevant business under the Act, you will
have been advised of this by your service management and you should
refer to your internal procedures for client identification.
7.

Review of this policy

7.1 This policy will be subject to regular review in line with the wider policies
within the constitution. It will also be reviewed should a change in
legislation require changes to be made.

113

This page is intentionally left blank

